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JNCO'S MEMORANDUM OF ARGUMENT IN RESPONSE TO THE PLAINTIFF'S 
APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL 

PART I. OVERVIEW AND STATEMENT OF FACTS 

1. In her Memorandum, the Applicant submits 39 questions for 1he Court's consideration. 

The affidavits tendered in supp011 of the Applicant's application sttbmit 11 more questions. 

2. None of 1he submitted questions give rise to any issue of national or public importance, 

or any important issue oflaw. 1 Many of the submitted questions do not even arise in this case. 

A. Facts 

3. The Applicant's case against Inco was narrow and limited to a year 2000 announcement 

of higher than expected nickel levels found close to the Respondent Inco's refinery. The 

Applicant claimed that Port Colborne's residentialproperty values were negatively affected by 

the announcement? However, property values were not affected. 

4. The factual context is important. The facts, never contested and as found by both Courts 

below, are incapable of establishing liability either for nuisance or under the strict liability 

doctrine of Rylands v Fletcher ('Rylands"): 

I 

i 

3 

• 
' 

(a) Inco operated a nickel refinery from 1918 to 1984, a period of 66 years. Inco 

emitted nickel in its daily operation. 97 percent of the nickel was emitted by 1960. 

From 1960 to 1984, a further 3 percent was ernitted.3 

(b) Inco always complied wi1h relevant regulatory and environmental standards.4 

(c) These nickel particles are not noticeable, and "have become part of the soil on 

these properties [in Port Colborne ]";5 

(d) Nickel is not dangerous per se;6 

Supreme Court Act, R.S.C., 1985, c. S~26, s. 40(1). 
Reasons ofth~ Court of Appeal (Doherty, MacFarland JJ.A, and Hoy J.) at para. 22, Application for Leave 
to Appeal (ElJen_Smitlt, Applicant) Materials ("Application") Tab 3D, p. !18. 
Trial Exhibit 4, Tab 709, "Soil Investigation and Human Health Risk Assessment for the Rodney Street 
Commnnity, Port Colbome" dated March 2002 ["March2002 HHRA"}, Respome to Application for Leave 
to Appeal ("Response''), Tab 3B, pp. 38-39; McLaughlin Chief, p. 1389, I. 5- I. 25, Response, Tab 3A, p. 
59. Mr. Dave McLaughlin ("McLaughlin") is of the Ontario Ministry of Environment • 
Trial Reasons at para. 333, Application, Tab 3A, p. 99. 
Trial Reasons at para. 76, Application, Tab 3A, p. 28. 
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(e) The air quality in Port Col borne has not been affected; 7 

(f) 'The water quality in Port Colbome has not been affected;8 

(g) The Applicant never alleged that the ni.;;kel in Port Colbome caused any risk to 

human health or well-being.9 In any event, very extensive, peer-reviewed 

scientific study confinned this repeatedly. 10 

5. In the lower Courts, the Applicant pursued two theories of liability: nmsance and 

Rylands.u 

6. The common law as it has existed and continues to exist has well-settled principles 

regarding nuisance. Nuisance has two distinct branches, namely (1) material physical damage to 

the plaintiffs property, and (2) significant interference with the use and enjoyment of property 

by one's neighbour. As the Trial Judge put it, 

"[7 5] Legal scholars and jwists have historically divided nuisance into 
two distinct branches, namely (I) material physical damage to the 
plaintiff's property, and (2) significant interference with fue beneficial 
use of the premises.'' 

7. Again, as the Trial Judge stated; "In the present case, the plaintiff does not rely on the 

second branch of nuisance as set out above. Rather, the plaintiff makes a claim based on the first 

branch, material physical damage to property."12 

• 
7 

• 
' 
10 

11 

Trial Reasons at para 54, Appli~ation, Tab 3A, p. 21. 
McLaughlin Chief; p. 1493, ll 4-29; McLaughlin Cross, p. 1523, ll. 23-28, Response, Tab 3C, pp. 65-66. 
McLaughlin testified that over ten years of air monitoring <lata confmns that regardless of which cancer 
risk standard is used (i.e. the standard of the World Health Organization, the United States Environmental 
Protection Agency or Environment Csnada), the risk to residents from nickel in the air in Port Co)borne is 
ncr greater than the risk to residents in virtually any other Ontario community or city in Canada that does 
not have a nickel refinery . 
Absolutely no evidence wa-s led that there was any effect on the water quality in the Town of Port 
Colbome. 
Reasons of the Court 9f Appeal at paras. 9,58 8l)d ()2, Application Tab 3D, pp. 113, 136 and 138. 
March 2002 HHRA, Respnnse, Tab 3B, pp. ·36-37; McLaughlin Chief; p. 1433, I. 27 - p. 1434; I. 17; 
McLaughlin Cross, p. 1444, U. 1-17; p. 1445,1. 20 -p. 1446; 1. 12; p. 1604, I. 20- p. 1606, I. 2Q, Response 
Tab 3C, pp. 60-64, 67-69. The Applicant itnpli~ that the nickel in the soil in Port Colbome is carcinogenic 
(paragraph 7 of her Memoraadtu:n). It has been conclusively determined that this is not the case. 
McLaughlin confumed that nickel oxide is only suspected to be a carcinogen if inhaled over extended 
periods of time in high, workplace-type concentrations in industrial envirOIDilents. 
She abandoned her claim in negligence before trjal. See Order of Cullity J. dated June 29, 2009, Response, 
Tab 3D. 
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8. The Applicant was unable to establish any hann to the .land. The nickel as it exists in Port 

Colbome is hannless and not noticeable. The Applicant was not able to demon_strate that there 

was any physical daniage - let alone material physical damage - to the class members' properties, 

as was required by the theory of liability advanced in both Courts below. 

9. The Applicant asserted strict liability under Rylands as a second theory of liability. The 

same facts whlch caused the Applicant to fail to establish nuisance also pertained to her failure to 

establish strict liability under Rylands. The Trial Judge found that nickel was not dangerous per 

se. In addition, the Trial Judge found that Jnco engaged in a lawful business operation in Port 

Colbome for many years and provided gainful employment to many people. That business 

operation regnlarly and law:fi.!lly emitted nickel as a consequence of its operations.13 

10. These facts to do not meet the requirements of the Rylands strict liability test: noncnatural 

user ofland and sudden or unanticipated escape ofa dangerous substance. 

11. There is no issue of national public importance. There is no uncertainty about the 

principles that underpin nuisance and Rylands. These are adaptable principles whlch have served 

the Commonwealth well from the earliest days of industry in the 18th century to modem times, 

including their application by this Comt in Tock v. John's Metropolitan Area Board.14 These 

torts ru:e flexible concepts that readily apply to modem environmental concerns, including 

contamination of land.15 Thls Court has provided a remedy to plaintiffs who have suffered 

damages as a result of industrial emissions16 and this Court has denied leave to appeal in cases 

involving these to.rtsY 

JS 

" 
l7 

Trial Reasons at para. 76, Application Tab 3A, p. 28. 
Trial Reasons at paras. 54 and 333, Application Tab 3A, pp. 21 and 99. 
Tockv. St. John's Metropolitr.mAreaBd., [1989] 2 S.C.R. 1181 ["Tock"], Respondent's Authorities, Tab L. 
To underscore that the principles of law engaged by the tort ofnulsance are well established and flexible, 
passages from Justice Mcintyre, as he then was, writing for the British Columbia Court of Appeal in Ruyal 
A1111e Hotel Co. Ltd. v. Village of Ashcroft, [1979] B.C.J. No. 2068 (B.C.C.A.) at paras. 9·14, Applicant's 
Authorities, Tah V (referred to by this Court in Tack at pp. 1190 and 1192) are pilrticularly illustrative. 
Reasons of the Court of Appeal at paras. 57-58, Application Tab 3D, pp. 135- 136. 
St. Lawrence Cement Inc. v. Barrette, [2008] 3 S.C.R. 392 ["St. Lawrence Cement'], Applicant's 
Authorities, Tab Z. 
For example, Susan Heyes Inc. v. Vancouver (City), 2009 CarswaiiBC 1362, l'ev'd by 2011 BCCA 77, 
leave to appeal refused by (201J); B.C.A.C. :w10 ["Heye~;'] (claim for nui~ance allegedly caused by 
construction of Canada Line in Vancouver), Respondent's Authorities, Tab J; Sutherland v. Canada (A-G), 
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12. There were also no damages in this case, as real estate values in Port Co!borne are the 

same or better than comparable communities. At; the Court of Appeal stated; 

" ... the Claimants (Applicants) failed to establish any damages."18 

13. The approach to damages. of both lower Courts was driven solely by the realities of the 

real estate evidence, without any disagreement about applicable legal principles. 

14. The Trial Judge found that there was a 4.35 percent differential in the rate of real estate 

price appreci!ltion over 10 years (1999- 2008) between the comparable communities ofPort 

Colborne and Weiland. However, the Trial Judge identified an underlying "problem" with the 

real estate data. When that "problem" is corrected, there is no differential in the rise of property 

values in Port Colborne as compared to Wella.nd.19 None of the submitted questions raise a.ny 

new or important issue regarding the calculation of damages. 

PART II. QUESTIONS IN ISSlJE 

15. Of the SO questions submitted by the Applicant in her factum and supporting materials, 

the Applicant has put :forward two broad overarching questions and four "key" legal issues?0 

The broad questions are: 

IS 
19 

20 

2001 CarswellBG 1470 (S.C.), rev'd by 2002 Carswel.IBC 1.531 (C.A.), leave to appeal. refused by 2003 
CarsweUBC 1. 102 (S.C. C) (claim for damages for nuisance by property owners including diminution oflhe 
value of their l.and which was alleged to !~lise from f.\le operation of a new runway at the Vancouver 
InternationaL Airport) Respondent's AuJbotltjes, Tab K; ChMsie v. J.D. Irving Ltd, 1982 GarsweliNB 48 
(C.A.), leave to appeal refused by (1. 983), 47 }l.R. 79 (note) (S.G.C.) ( daim that fishing wharf the plaintiff 
struck when snowmobiling on a froze)! river was a nuisance), Respondent's Authorities, Tab D; Df!llrosiers 
v. Sul/ivCIJ1, 1986 Ca.rsweUNB 74 (C.A.), leave to appel;l. refused (1987), .80 N.R 315 (note) (S.C. C.) (al.aim 
for nuisance resulting from the odour emanating from a pig farm), Respondent's Authorities, Tab F; 
Oosthoek v. Tl!Wider lf!l)l (City), 1994 GarsweHOnt 632 (On!. Gen. Div.), aff'd 1996 GarsweUOnt 5113 
(G.A.), leave to appeal refused [1996] S.G.G.A. No. 577 (claim for nuisance in respect of sewer that 
flooded homes), Responpent's Authoriti.es, Tab I; Hoffinan v. Monsanto Canada Inc., 2005 Carswel!Saslc 
572 (Sask. G.A. [In Chambers]), aff'd by 2007 CarsweUSK 190 (G.Ac), !.eave to appeal refused by 2007 
CllrsweilSK 190, (2007]3 S.G.R. l!: (note) (court declined to eertiJY class action on the basis that the 
pl.eadings did not disciose a cause of action in nuisance or Rylimds (among others)), Respondent's 
Authorities, TabG. · 
Reasons of the Court ofAppeal at para. 3, Application Tab 30, p. 112. 
Reasons of the Court of Appeal at patas. 130•131 and 159, Application Tab 3D, llP· 166 and 176. 
Applicant's.MemoriiJl<lum of Argument at paras. 5 and 26, Application Tab 4, pp. 134 and 193. 
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"-- Canadians need a, cleat artswer: what is actionable in the context of 
chemical depositions on private lands?" 21

- para. 3 

"--- this appeal is the test case on which this Court can now opine on the 
priority of these interests - what degree . of contamination · or land 
interference must be tolerated and by whom?"22

- para. J3- [underlining 
in the origina.l] 

5 

16. The Applicant's four keylegal questions, which encompass other questions, are: 

(i) the threshold effect for liability in nuisance in the context of environmental or 
contamination; 

(ii) the requirements for a "non-natural'' use ofland; 

(iii) whe1her environmental statutory regimes are a complete code ofliability; and 

(iv) whe1her property devaluation should be a recognized claim in nuisance. 23 

17. In specific response: 

11 

22 

" 

(a) On the facts of this case, there is no environmental "effect". The nickel existing in 

Port Colbome causes no harm to soil, air or water, and no harm or risk of harm to 

hnman health, and the Applicant never alleged otherwise. Further, on the facts of 

this case, there is no property devaluation. Acoordingly, questions (i) and (iv) do 

not arise in this case. 

(b) In Tock this Court provided a clear definition of what constitutes a "non-natural 

use" to establish strict liability under the rule in Rylands. That definition was 

applied by the Court of Appeal There is no need for this Court to re-consider 

question (ii). 

(c) No lower Court relied on environmental regulatory regimes to determine liability. 

Accordingly, question (iii) does not arise in this case. 

Applicant's Memorandum of Argument, Application Tab 4, p. 183. 
Applicant's Memorandum of Argument, Application Tab 4, p. 126. 
Applicant's Memorandum of Argument at para. 5, Application Tab 4, p. 184. 
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(d) On these facts, the Applicant's broad questions are academic and irrelevant. 

1&. In addition, in specific response to questions set out in the supporting affidavits: 

(a) The requirement to prove "material physical damages" in nuisance is well-settled, 

and the lower Courts did not disagree on this point. 

(b) In the absence of nickel adversely affecting the use of property (not claimed or 

proven) or health (not claimed or proven) the question of "stigma" does not arise, 

particularly where the Applicant failed to prove any diffic11lty in selling property, 

nor any difficulty in obtaining a mortgage and nor any property devaluation. 

(c) Any consideration of how Rylands shotud apply to "extra-hazardous" activities is 

irrelevant to this case. The refining of nickel for 66 years is not an "extra­

hazardous" activity. As well, neither Court confined Rylands to cases of single­

isolated releases; therefore, the point does not arise on the facts. 

(d) The issue of "foreseeability" of damages was not argued or addressed in evidence 

in the courts below. 

19. There is no "trigometric" property/tort/environment test that needs delineation. There is 

no "juridical triangulation" of three discrete areas of law. There is no "juridical Richter Scale" 

that is engaged, and no need to assist the Court of Appeal for Ontario in looking through a 

'juridical pair of binoculars". 

PART ill. ARGUMENT 

A.· The Claim 

20. The Applicant's case rests on the assertion that an announcement of higher than expected 

nickel levels found in the year 2000 generated public concern and controversy, which caused a 

measura,ble negative effect on class members' property values. Th.e lawsuit was initiated in 2001. 

21. Periodically owr the decades, the MOE collected air and soil samples from Port 

Colborne. As a result of the MOE's fmding in 2000 of higher than expected soil nickel levels, it 

decided that testing should be done in an area in Port Colbome immediately adjacent to the. Inco 
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refinery, known as the Rodney Street Area. Ultimately, 1he MOE found. that 25 of approximately 

7,000 properties in Port Colbome had nickel levels exceeding 8,000 ppm (the intervention level 

at which Inco was required to clean up these properties). Inco removed the .soil from 24 of the 25 

properties and replaced it 'vith fresh soil. Ironically, the class representative/Applicant refused to 

have l1er property remediated. 24 

22. The 8,000 ppm intervention level was determined by the MOE after extensive 

independent scientific study. It was set based on leading edge science which assumed an 

exposure to nickel as if a toddler below the age of five remained a toddler for 70 years and 

Consumed nickel by playing in the backyard handling and eating soil on a daily basis.25 In other 

words, it was set at a very precautionary level, well below any potential health risk.26 

23. Several health studies have been done in Port Colbome. In 1981, the federal government 

commissioned a health study in which 1,000 homes were approached and over 300 residents 

participated. The study looked at, among other things, known health effects of nickel and found 

that Port Colborne residents "are generally healthy with no iiinesses reaching abnormallevels"?7 

24. In addition, in 1997 the Public Health Department did a health study (updated in 2000). 

This updated study performed a risk assessment in respect of nickel levels in the soils in Port 

Colbotne, and reviewed health statistics of Port Colbome residents. The Health Study cafile to 

the following eonclusion: 

In conclusion, based on multimedia assessment of potential risks, no 
adverse health effects are anticipated to result from exposure to nickel, 
copper and cobalt, in the soils the :Port Colbome area. Furth!mii()re, the 

Reasons of the Court of Appeal at paras. 13-17, Application Tab 3D, pp. IJ4 -116; MoLanghlin Cross, p. 
1630, 1. 17- p. 1631, I. 7; Smith Cross, p. 331,1. 23 - p. 332, I. 5; p. 354, I. 21- p. 355, I. 26, Response, 
Tab 3C, pp. 70 - 71; 54 • 57. 
March 2002 HHRA, Response, Tab 3B, p. 36. 
The Court of Appeal foood thatille MOE explained that the 8,000 ppm intervention level was developed to 
ensure that all nickel exposure to residents and especialLy toddlers would not exceed a value that is "well 
below pnypotentia/.healthrisR',Reasons of the Court of Appeal at para. 16, .Application T~b 3D, p. 115. 
Trial Exhibit4, Tab 145, "Health Stody fromFJoderal Govemmenf' dated 198:1, Respome, Tab 3B, p. 33. 
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r(}view of p<)pnlation health data did not indicate any adverse health 
effects which may have resulted from environmental exposures?8 

8 

25. Following 2000, extensive further health studies of Port Colborne residents have been 

undertaken. In summary, they are as heaithy as other Canadians, with no increase in any health 

risk due to nickel. 29 

26. The Applicant failed to establish that, from 2000 to 2008 any property owner in Polt 

Colbome had any difficulty eitl1er selling their house or in obtaining a mortgage from any 

financial institution. 30 

B. The Trial Judgment 

(a) N!!isance 

27. The Trial Judge determined that the placing of nickel particles on a neighbour's property 

constitutes physical damage. He did so apparently without regard to the amount or effect of the 

particles: 

" 
29 

30 

"In the present case, the plaintiff d.oes uot rely on the ~econd branch of 
nuisance as set ont above. Rather, the plaintiff makes a claim based on 
the Jirst branch, material physical damage to property. The plaintiff 
submits tbat Inco bas acted so as to permit nickel particles to flow from 
its operations onto class members' properties. The nickel particles, 
prim!lrily in tbe form of nickel oxide, have become pan; of the soil on 

Trial Elili.ibit 4, Tab 209, MOE Information Sheet re. 1997 Health :Report, Response, Tab 3B, p. 34; 
McLaugldin Cross, p. 1379,.ll. 11-17, Response, Tab 3C, p. 58. 
The CHAP Stndy, a componen~ of the CBRA, first issued to the public in 2004 and finalized in 2009, 
confirmed that the residents of Port Colborn.e ate as healthy as any other community in Ontario. and 
Canada, Trial Exhibit 4, Tab 867, CHAP Studies A and C Integration: A Report to the Teclmical 
Subcommittee pf the Pul)lic Liaison Committee fe>r the City of Port Colbome, Final Report, Marcil 10, 
;2009, R.espcms~. Tab 3B, p. 40- 42. 
M);, Smith agreed that "despite being so involved with COl)tamination issues and this proceeding, and 
despite speaking with hundteils of class members [over the prior eight years]" that "[she did] not have any 
knowledge or infonnation about any s!)ecific residents .having difficulty obtaining mortgages, loans or 
(man~ing due to contamination on their properties''. Ms. Smith h~d po problem obtaining a mortgage on 
her home to finance the purqhase of another property in P()rt Colborno, Smith Cross, pp. 310 - 320, 
Response, Tab :>C, pp. 43-53; David Atlin was the only expert who studied mortgages in Port Colbome and 
he testified that there WIIJI no evidence of any changes in mortgage financing following the year 2000, Allin 
Cllle:t; p!). 1976, 1. 16-p. 1978, ]. 6, Response, Tab 3C, p. 72-74. 
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these properti11.s. I ac;cept the submission that this constitutes physical 
damage to the class members' properties."31 

9 

28. The logical consequence of .the Trial Judge's reasoning is that a defendant would cause 

physical damage by depositing even one particle of any substance on a neighbour's property. 

Many normal activities would cause physical damage under such a test, including having 

backyard barbeques or driving cars which emit eXhaust (containing nickel and other particles). 

29. Although ''material" is an adjective qualifYing physical "damages", the Trial Judge stated 

that the physical damage was "material" because of its consequences, i.e. he found (erroneously) 

there was a 4.35 percent differential over 10 years in the rate of appreciation of the market prices 

in Port Colbome when compared to Weiland. Between 1999 and 2008, Port Colbome's property 

values rose by 59,5 percent whereas Welland's property values rose by 63.85 percent. The Trial 

Judge failed to articulate any test for "materiality". 

30. The Trial Judge erroneously used 1he 4.35 percent price appreciation differential on three 

separate occasions: 

(i) as the adjective to qualify physical damage as "material physical damage"; 

(ii) as the basis for causation, to explain why Port Colbome and Welland did 
not have the same price appreciation over 10 years, even though he 
recognized that the communities were not identical but only comparable; 
and 

(iii) as the basis for the damages. 

(b) Rylands 

31. The TTial Judge found that the Rylands test was made out because nickel was a non­

natural substance given its importation to the refinery from elsewhere. Thus, on this reasoning, 

nickel occurring naturally in Sudbury and being refined by lnco in Sudbury is not an "unnatural 

substance", but it is in Port Col borne. 

31 Trial Reasons at paras. 76 and 101, ApplicationcTab 3A, pp. 28 and 35. 
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32. The Trial Judge also found that although nickel is not a "dangerous substance per se"; it 

has the potential to be dangerous, 

33. The Trial Judge found that the 66-year daily, repeated, known emissions from the Inco 

refinery constituted an escape sufficient to m11et the non-natural user and unanticipated escape 

elements of the strict liability test. 

(c) Damages 

34. The Trial Judge found that Port Colbome and Weiland were comparable communities for 

the purposes of measuring any difference in price appreciation of real estate. 

35. He found that from 1999 to 2008 Port Colboroe re1>idential property values rose by 59.5 

percent whereas Weiland's property values rose by 63.85 percent, a differential of 4.35 percent. 

This equated to a lass on average of $4,514 per property which the Trial Judge multiplied by 

7,965 residential properties for a total damage assessment of$36 million.31 

36. In- arriving at the figure, the Trial Judge relied on the Municipal Property Assessment 

Corporation ("MP AC") data set which be found ranked ahead of the multiple listing sales 

("lv1LS") data set 33 The MLS data set demonstrated that the Applicant failed to prove any 

damages. 

37. The MLS data set captures all actual sales of properties in both communities between 

1999 and 2008 that are transacted over the system. 95 percent of all sales, and virtually 100 

percent of arms' length sales, are traasacted over the MLS system. The other approximately 5 

percent represent non-arms' length transactions such as sales between family members. 

3 8. The MPAC data set represents a notional valuation of all properties in Ontario regardless 

of whether the property sold or did not sell. This MP AC data is derived through the application 

of an undisclosed mathemati~;al algorithm that values pr0perties based on similar properties. The 

Trial R~asons at para. 298, Application. Tab 3A, p. 90. 
Trial Reasons at pant. 254, Application Tab 3A, p. 77~ 
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MP AC data set was updated in 1996, 1999, 2001, 2003, 2005 and 2008. A property's MP AC 

value is the value used for property tax assessments in Ontario.34 

39. In utilizing the MPAC data set, the Trial Judge noted a problem.35 In the residential 

classification in Port Colbome in 1999, some 314 vacant building lots were reclassified as fann 

properties. Because vacant lots are of low value, removing them from the residential 

classification had the effect of raising the average value of the Port Colbome residential 

properties for 1999, the starting year for the measurement. By 2008 these vacant building lots 

were once again put into the residential category for Port Colbome, thus lowering the average 

property value for 2008, the end point of the measurement. 1bis meant that the rate of property 

value increase between 1999 and 2008 was artificially depressed. 1hls phenomenon was not 

present in Weiland. 

40. The Trial Judge averted to the problem regarding the exclusion of the building lots at the 

beginning of the measurement period and the inclusion of the building lots at the end of the 

measurement and accepted that a comparison would skew the results.36 

41. The Trial Judge made an arbitrary partial adjustment that was not based on any expert 

evidence to reduce the pure differential of 5.9 percent to 4.35 percent. He acknowledged that if a 

full adjustment were made, even using the MP AC data, there was no difference in the rate of 

appreciation of real estate values from 1999 to 2008 between Port Colborne and Weiland. 

42. On the MLS data, there was also no difference for that 10 year period - in fact, Port 

Colbome outperformed Weiland. 

34 

3S 

36 

Roosons oftlle Court of Appeal at para. 126, Application 'fab 3D, p. 164- 165, 
Trial Reasons at para. 255, Apl)lication Tab 3A, p. 77. 
Trial Reasons at paras. 255, 288 and 289, Application Tab 3A, pp. '17, 86-87. 
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C. The Reasons ofthe Court of Appeal for Ontario 

(a) Nuisance 

43. The Court of Appeal for Ontario began its discussion of the law by indicating that "the 

distinction between physical damage nuisance and amenity nuisance [i.e. interference with use 

and enjoyment] has been repeatedly applied by Courts in this Province''. 37 

44. The Court of Appeal determined that the facts of the case did not permit the Trial Judge 

to find that nick:el particles in the soil caused actual, substantial, physical damages to the 

claimants' lands. 

''In our view, a mere chemical alteration in the content of soil, without 
more, does not amount to physical harm or damage to the property. For 
instance, mlllly farmers add fertilizer to the.ir soil each year for the 
purpose of changing, and enhancing, the chemical composition of the 
soil. To constitute physical harm or damage, a change in the chemical 
composition must be shown to have had some detrimental effect on the 
land itself or rights associated with the use of the land.',38 

45. "The approach followed by the Trial Judge effectively removes any need to show that 

Inco's operation of its reftnery caused any harm of any kind to the claimants' land." 39 

46. "The clain1ants did not join issue on the level at which nickel particles could be said to 

pose a risk to human health and wellbeing, but instead argued that concerns about potential risks 

were in and of themselves sufficient to make In co's conduct an actionable nuisance if those 

concerns affected property values. Tills strategy no doubt reflected the reali1y that the level of 

nickel particles in the soil of the vast majority of the 7,000 properties covered by the class action 

were well below anything that could possibly be regarded as posing a health risk.',40 

47. TI1e Applicant argues at paragraphs 35 and 36 of her Memorandum that the Court of 

Appeal has introduced a personal injury requirement to the nuisance test. Tills argument 

misconstrues this aspect of the Court of Appeal'"S reasons. The Court of Appeal directed itself 

31l ,. 
•• 

Reasons ofthe Court of Appe~l at para, 47, Application, Tab 3D, pp. 130 • 131. 
Reasons of the Court of Appealat para. 55, Application, Tall 3D, pp. 134 • 13·5. 
Reasons ofthe CQJ)rt of Appea!atpara. 59, Application, Tab 3D, pp. 136 • 137 . 
Reasons ofthe Courtcof Appeal at pam. 62, Application, Tab 3D, p. 138. 
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only to the particular facts of this case. Having failed to prove material physical damage, the 

Applicant relied on concerns about potential health risks. The Court of Appeal found that mere 

concern, without evidence of actual risk to health was insufficient to establish actual, substantial, 

physical damage to land in the context of this case. 

48. As stated by the Court of Appeal, "in our view, actual, substantial, physical damage to 

the land in the context of this case refers to nickel levels that at least posed some risk to the 

health or wellbeing of the residents of those properties. Evidence that the existence of the nickel 

particles in the soil generated concerns about potential health risks does not, in our view, amount 

to evidence that the presence of the particles in the soil caused actual, substantial harm or 

damage to the property. The claimants failed to establish aetna!, substantial, physical damage to 

their properties as a result of the nickel particles becoming part of the soil. Without actual, 

substantial, physical harm, the nuisance claim as framed by the claimants could not succeed."4
J 

49. Thus, contrary to the Applicant's assertion,42 the Court of Appeal did not say that adverse 

health effects are necessary to establish nuisance in a case where environmental contamination is 

alleged. Rather, the Court of Appeal said that as the Applicant framed her case, the only possible 

nuisance on the facts was adverse health effects, and this was not borne out on the facts. 

50. Both courts below set out and applied the same well-settled legal principles tegarding 

nuisance. They orll.y differed on how that law applied to the facts. 

(b) Rylands 

51. The Court of Appeal carefully addressed the existing law on the strict liability doctrine. 

In particular, it accepted the formulation of the test stated by this Court in Tock: 

41 

42 

"It is not every use to which land is put that brings into play that 
principle [Rylands v. Fletcher]. It must be some special use bringing with 
it increased danger to others and must not merely be the ordinary use of 

Reasons of the Court of Appeal at para. 67 (emphasis added), Application Tab 3D, p. 140. 
Applicant's Memorandum of Argument at paras. 13, 24,35 & 36, Application Tab 4, pp. 187, 192- 193 & 
197. 
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the land or such a use as is proper for the general benefit of the 
community.'o43 

"The touchstone for the application of the rule in Rylands v. Fletcher is 
to be damage occl!rring from a user inappropriate to the place where it 
is maintained (Prosser cites the example of the pig in the parlour)."44 

14 

52. The Court of Appeal also found that the Trial Judge misused the term "non-natural use" 

as a trigger to ll;npose liability. "If the characterization of a use as a non-natural one was ever tied 

solely to whether the substance was found naturally on the property, it has long since ceased to 

depend on the ~wer to that single questio~l." "It is not, however, the law that anything that is 

not found naturally o:n the property can he found subject to strict liability under Rylands v. 

Fletcher if it escapes and causes damage." "To decide whether a use is a non-natural one, the 

. Court must have regard for the place where the use is made, the time when the use is made, and 

the m~er of the use." The Court of Appeal further noted that in Tock, the non-natm:al use 

component was articulated as a "mle providing flexibility that would allow the rule to adjust to 

changing patterns in society". 45 

53. The Court pf Appeal also addressed the degree of danger<msness posed by the activity 

and the circumstanpes surrounding the activity: 

"Any industrial activity, and perhaps even more so a refinery, certainly 
carries with it the potential to do significant damage to surrounding 
properties if something goes awry. The claimants did not, however, in 
our view, demonstrate that Inco's operation of its refinery for over 60 
Y!"ars presented "an exceptionally dangerous or mischievous thing" or 
that the circumstances were "extraordinary or unusual". To the contrary, 
the evidence suggests that Inco operated a refinery in a heavily 
industrialized part of the city in a manner that was ordinary and usual 
and did not create risks beyond those incidental to virtually any industrial 
operation. In our view, the claimants failed to establish that !nco's 
operation of its refinery was a non-natural use of its property .''46 

54. Finally! the Court of Appeal articulated the type of situation that Rylands is and has 

always been meant to address: "an l~atural use of the defendant's property and some kind of 

{3 

44 
Reasons of the Conrt of Appeal at para. 90, Application Tab 3D, p. 15l. 
Reasons of the Court of Appeal at para. 91 ( eJI!phasis by the Court of Appeal for Ontario), Application. Tab 
3D, p. l5J. 
Reasons oftbe Court of Appeal at paras. 91 and 97, Application Tab 3D, p. 151 and 1$4. 
Reasons of the Court of Appeal at para. 103, Application Tab 3D, p. 156. 
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mishap or accident that results in damage" .. . not the ''intended result of the activity undertaken by 

the defendanf'. In other words, the Rylands rule does not apply to "escapes" that are permitted 

by regulation and made in the ordinary course ofbusiness.47 

55. Accordingly, the Court of Appeal simply corrected errors by the Trial Judge in 

interpreting and applying the law to the facts of this case, in a manner consistent with decades of 

precedent regarding the application of Rylands. 

(c) Damages 

56. No issue of public importance is raised on damages. The Court of Appeal applied the 

precedents of this Court, and recognized that "in reviewing damage calculations, appellate courts 

generally defer to trial judges and, absent an error in principle, are reluctant to interfere". The 

Court then went on to state that the Trial Judge in this instance made errors in principle in his 

analysis of the evidence ofthe damagesclaimed.48 

57. The Court of Appeal indicated "whether one uses the MLS data or the MPAC data, 

properly corrected, the result is the same. The record conclusively demonstrates that the 

claimants have suffered no loss.'.49 

58. Ultimately, the Court of Appeal found that the Trial Judge erred in principle in awarding 

damages based on an arbitrary adjustment to address a problem in the MP AC data that the Trial 

Judge acknowledged. 5° 

59. The Trial Judge calculated damages by measuring the difference between the year 1999, 

which excluded 314 vacant building lots, and 2008, which included the vacant building lots. The 

Court of Appeal found that there was "no question" that "the inclusion of these building lots as 

Reasons ofth.,Comt of ApJl~al at para. 112. (emphasis added), Application Tab 30, p. 159. 
Reasons of1he Court of Appeal ilt para. 125, Application Tab 3D, p. 164. 
Reasonsof1he Court of Appeal at para. 128 (emphasis added), Application Tab 3D, p. 165. 
See pamgraphs 34 - 42 above, 
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residential properties had the effect of lowering the average residential property value for Port 

Colbome". s 1 

60. The Court of Appeal's decision corrects this arbitrary .adjustment, which was not based 

on any evidence. The Collrt pointed out that when one viewed all of the evidence, there is no 

appreciable difference in real estate values between Port Co!bome and Welland: 

"Exhibit 77 filed at trial summarized the MP AC data and made 
comparisons between Weiland and Port Colbome for various years, 
beginning in 1996 and ending in 2008. In all of the comparisons save 
one, Port Colbome either outperforms or almost equals Welland in terms 
of property appreciation - even on apples to oranges comparisons.";l 

61. "The role of building lots was crucial to the analysis. The very fact that the removal of 

the building lots from the 2008 data virtually eliminates the 5.9% gap between the growth of 

housing values in Port Colbome and Weiland means that the bt.rilding lots. cannot be ignored. 

When an "apples to apples" comparison is lllll4e - with the building Jots either included or not 

included on both sides of the comparison - any difference in appreciation rates between the two 

comparator communities disappears~ or accrues in Port Colbome's favour.''53 

62. "In our view, on this evidence, the Trial Judge ought to have either left the lots in for both 

years being compared or removed them entirely. Only by doing so could he legitimately compare 

the data for the two communities. "54 

63. In any event, a difference of 4.35 percent over lO years between Port Colbome and 

Welland is well within the range of variance of comparable but not identical communities over a 

I 0 year period. 

64. In answer to the Applicant's allegation at paragraph 47 ofher Memorandum, the Court of 

Appeal did not vacate the damage award "ignoring" evidence or in reliance on evidence not 

tendered at trial. Based on the Trial Judge's findings, the Collrt of Appeal rejected the plaintiff's 

51 

S2 

53 

54 

Reasons of the Court of Appeal <tt paras. 130 and 131, Application tab 3D, p. 166. 
Reasons oft:h<> Ccmrt of Appeal~t patas. 133 and 134, Application Tab 3D, pp. 167 -168. 
Reasons of the Court ofAppeatatpara. 145, Application Tab 3D, PP: 17l-172. 
Reason~ of the C<:>urt (if Appeal at para. 148, Applicllti<m Tab 3D, p. 17'2. 
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statistical evidence and related data as hopelessly flawed. 55 For the ptupose of correcting the 

error of the Trial Judge, the Court of Appeal did not rely on the defendant's expert, Frank 

Clayton, in any fashion. The only correction that the Court of Appeal made to 1he Trial Judge's 

:MPAC damages calculation was to the Trial Judge's own partial, arbitrary adjustment to the 

MPAC data. 56 

D, Analysis 

65. This case is not a "test case" about "a juridical triangulation of three discrete areas of law 

into a singly nationally important case with a class actions overlay". Neither property law nor 

environmental law was raised nor engaged. To the extent that the subject matter of the case 

touohed on environmental or property issues, 1hese were purely factual, not legal issues. 

66. Indeed, the Applicant herself made this same point when opposing the motion by the 

Friends of the Earth (the "FOE") to intervene before the Court of Appeal. In opposing FOE's 

intervention, the Applicant stated in her factum: "This appeal is concerned solely with private 

property rights";57 ''The decision below was heavily fact-dtiven ... ";58 "While the [the proposed 

intervener] the FOE states that the legal issues engaged on this appeal 'affect the interests of the 

public as a whole', such an assertion is misplaced";59 " ... [N]or does this appeal involve an 

inquiry into Canadian environmental law generally";60 "While the FOE frames this appeal as one 

which 'includes the realization that our common future, that of every Canadian community, 

depends on a healthy environment', snch assertions are irrelevant and unhelpful in disposing of 

an appeal of a factually driven trial decision".61 

67. Among the 50 questions submitted by the Applicant and its supporters, a recm'ting theme 

is the interplay between a polluted community and the regulatory regime. This is not an issue 

raised in argument or by the facts of this case. Life has continued normally in Port Colbome. 

" ,. 
57 

" ,. .. 
61 

R~asons of the Collrt of Appeal at paras. 122 and !56, Application Tab 3D, pp. 163 and 175. 
R~asons ofthe Collrt of Appeal at para. 152, Application Tab 3D, p. 173. 
Factum of the Applicant on Friends of the Earth Motion for Intervener Status at the Ontario Court of 
Appeal dated March 16,2011 (!he "Applicant's Intervention Factum"), at para. I, Response, Tab}D, p. 76. 
Applieant's Intervention Factum, at para. 3, Response, Tab 3D, p. 77. 
Applicant's Intervention 'Factum, at pam. 22, Response, Tab 3D, p. 78 . 
Applicant's Intervention Factum, at para. 26, Response, Tab 3D, p. 80. 
Applicant's Intervention Factum, at para. 37, Response, Tab 3D,p. 81. 
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Th~re were no findings that residents changed their ordinary activities, or had difficulty selling 

their houses or obtaining mortgages. No indulgence was granted to Ineo because for 66 years it 

complied with all regulations. Indeed, the >Court of Appeal did not agree that Inco operated "for 

the general benefit of the community" so as to absoive it from strict liability under the Rylands 

rule. The factual premise of many Qfthe questions posed is fictional. 

68. The Applicant suggests that there are five points of departure between six cases that the 

Applicant asserts are relevapt; but none of these are correct62 

62 

63 

(a) None of St. Lawrence Cement; decided by this Court, Heyes in the Court of 

Appeal for British Columbia or Berendsen or Antrim in the Court of Appeal for 

Ontario addressed the liability issue of the actionable threshold in nuisance when 

contamination is alleged, or whether diminished property value is physical 

damage to land. None have similar facts and all were resolved on different 

theories of liability (being the other branch of nuisance, i.e. unreasonable 

interference,63 and negligence64
). In any event, these cases do not conflict, as they 

do ,not eveu deal with similar issues. 

(b) None of these cases state that compliance with statute "imnwnizes" a defendant 

from liability. In any event, in this case neither the Trial Judge nor the Court of 

Appeal found that Inco was "iulmune" becl}use it had complied with statutory 

regulations. 

(c) Tridan and Cousins deal with damages issues, and have no bearing on the liability 

issues at hand. In Tridan, liability was admitted, including the responsibility for 

Heyes, Respondent's Authorities, Tab J; Trid/i11 Developments Ltd v. Shell Canada Products, (2000] O.J. 
No. 1741 (SCJ), Applic!!llt's Authorities, Tal> FF, rev'd by (2002), 57 O.R. (3d) 503 (C.A.), Applicant's 
Authorities, TabEE; Antrim Truck Centre Ltd v. Ontario (Minister of Transportation), 2011 CarswellOnt 
4064, 201) O,N.C.A. 419 r'Alltriln"], Respondent's Authorities, Tab A; Beremlsen v. Onrario, 2009 
Carswel!Ont 7463,. 2()09 O.N.G.A. 845 f'B«rendl-en"], Respondent's Authorities, Tab B; & Lawrence 
Cement, Applicant's Authorities, Tab Z; and Cousins v. McColl-Frontenac, 2006 CarsweliNB 652, 2006 
N.B.Q.B. 406 ["cousins"], ResJ>Ondent's Authorities, Tab E. 
In St. Lawrence Cement, 1feyey and Alllriln, the plaintiffs ;tlleged that the defendant's activity was causing 
an unreasonable b>terfet¢nce with the use 1111d enjoJ1111ent of the plaintiff's property; See St. Lawrence 
Cement, at paras. 77•79, Applicant's AUthorities, Tab Z; Heyes, at pms. 36, 40 and 49, Respondent's 
Authorities, Tab J; Anll'im, at pJilas. 8()..83,, Respondent' il Authorities, T11b A. 
Eerendsen, at piln\. 20, Respopdent's Authprities, Tab B. 
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remediation and related costs,65 In Cousins, the plaintiff sought damages in 

respect of a property that the Court found was contaminated beyond 

remediation.66 These cases do not conflitilt on the appropriate level of remediation, 

and even if they did, it is irrelevant as remediation was not an issue in this case. 

Nor do the c&ses conflict on the proper way to quantify environmental damages, 

as they were quantifying different things: the cost of remediation and damages 

where a property could not be remediated. 

69. A "class actions overlay" adds nothing to the analysis. As this COurt has said, repeatedly, 

and most recently in 2011, a class action is a procedural vehicle. Its use does not have the effect 

of changing the substantive law applicable to individual actions.67 

70. In any event, the law is clear that class action cases can be brought in tort for 

environmental harm caused by a defendant's emissions. This was exactly the situation in St. 

Lawrence Cement.68 

E. Conclusion 

71. The answers to both "key'' questions (What is actionable? What degree of interference is 

tolerable?)69 on which leave to appeal is sought are hann and damages. Tort law has since its 

inception focussed on providing a remedy for the damage caused by a defendant. In this case the 

Applicant staked her claim on the theory that there was material physical damage to her land. 

Harrnless depositions of nickel causing no physical or other damage and causing no economic 

65 

•• 
61 

:68 

•• 

ReMons ofth~ Court of A-ppeal at para. 66, Application Tab 3D, p. 140 . 
Causins, at paras. 5 and 16, Respondent's Authorities, Tab E. 
Bou Malhab v. Diffusion Metromedia CMR Inc., 2011 CarswellQue 383, [2011] 1 S.C.R. 214 at para. 52, 
Respohdent's Authorities, Tab C. 
See also, Flo/lick v. Toronto (City), 2001 CarswellOnt 3577, [2001) 3 S.C.R. 158 at paras. 33-37, 
Respondent's Authorities, Tab H where the Supreme Court of Canada found that the plaintiff's proposed 
claim in respect of emissions from a landfill met the identifiable class and common issues requirements of 
the test for certification under section 5(1) of the Class Proceedings Act, 1992, S.O. 1992, c. 6 [the "CPA"], 
but that a class proceeding was not the preferable procedure, primarily be<:ause of the existence of a Small 
Claims Trust Fund that had been set up to address claims arising out of "off-site impacf' of the landfill. The 
Supreme Court of Canada found that the case should not be certifted, but specifically stated that this was 
not because the certification requirements could never be met in an environmental tort case, btit becaUSe of 
the serious issues of preferlibility under section 5(1 )(d) ofthe CPA . 
See paragraph 16 above. 
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damages do not fall within the ambit of tort law. Absent any hartn and any dmnages, all of the 50 

questions posed for the Court to consider are academic and hypothetical. 

PARTIV. ORDERSOUGHT 

72. The Respondent respectfully requests that the application for leave to appeal be dismissed 

with costs to the Respondent. 

January 19, 2011 ALL OF WHICH IS RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED 

Larry P. Lowenstein 

Lawyers for the Respondent, lnco Limited. 
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refused by 2003 CarswellBC 1102, [2002] SCCA No 385 (SCC) 

12. Tockv St. John's MetropolitanA.J•ea Bd., [1989] 2 SCR 1181 (SCC) 11,17,51,52 
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PART VI. lmLEV ANT LEGISLATIVE PROVISIONS 

Supreme Court Act, R.S.C., 1985, e. S-2(1, s. 40 

Appeals with leave of Supre1lle CQurt 

40. (I) Subject to subsection (3), an appeal lies to the Supreme Court from any final or 
other judgment of the Federal Court of Appeal or of the highest court of final resort in a 
province, or a judge thereof; in which judgment can be had In the particular case sought to be 
appealed to the Supreme Court, whether or not leave to appeal to the Supreme Court has been 
refus.;;d by any other court, where, with respect to the particular case sought to be appealed, the 
Supreme Court is of the opinion that any question involved therein is, by reason of its public 
importance or the importance of any issue of law or any issue of mixed law and fact involved in 
that question, one that ought to be decided by the Supreme Court or is, for any other reason, of 
such a nature or significance as to warrant decision by it, and leave to appeal from that judgment 
is accordingly granted by the Supreme Court. 

R.S., 1985, c. S-26, s. 40;R.S., !985, c. 34 (3rd Supp.), s. 3;1990, c; 8, s. 37. 

Class Proceedings Act.1992, S.O. 19!)2, c. 6, s. 5(1) 

Certification 

5. (1) The court shall certify a class proceeding on a motion under section 2, 3 or 4 if, 

(a) the pleadings or the notice of application discloses a cause of action; 

(b) there is an identifiable class of two or more persons that would be represented by the 
representative plaintiff or defendant; 

(c) the claims or defences of the class members raise common-issues; 

(d) a class proceeding would be the preferable procedure for the resolution of the common 
issues; and 

(e) there is a representative plaintiff or defendant who, 

(i) would fairly and adequately represent the interests of the class, 

(ii) has produced a ]Jlan for the proceeding that sets out a workable method of advancing 
the proceeding on behalf of the class and of notifYing class members of tl1e 
proceeding, and 

(iii)does not have, on the common issues for the class, an interest in conflict with the 
interests of other class members. 1992, c . .6, s. 5 (1). 
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Court File No. 12023/01 

THE HONOURABLE 

MR. JUSTICE CULLITY 

BETWEEN'f 

ONTARIO 
SuPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

) MONDAY, THE 29th 
) 
) DAY OF JUNE, 2009 

WILFRED ROBERT PEARSON 

-and-

INCO LIMITED 

Proceeding under the Class Proceedings Act, !992 

ORDER 

Plaintiff 
(Moving Party) 

Defendant 
(Responding Party) 

THESE MOTIONS made by the plaintiff for an order · replacing the 

representative plaintiff, amending the certification order, leave to ftle a Fresh As Amended 

Statement of Claim and by the defcmdant to compel the plaintiff to answer certain questions 

either refused or taken under advisement, were read tbis day at the Court Honse, 361 University 

Avenue, Toronto, Ontario. 

ON BEING ADVISED of the consent of the parties and upon hearing 

submissions of counsel for the plaintiff and the defendant, 

1. TmS COURT ORDERS that Wilfred Pearson ("Pearson") shall be replaced by 

Ellen Smith ("Smith") as the representative plaintiff in this action and that the title of 

proceedings shall be amended to read as set out in Schedule "A" to this order, 
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2. THIS COURT ORDERS that Smith shall deliver her affidavit of documents by 

no later than June 30,2009 and shall be examined for discovery no later than July 15,2009. · 

3. TIDS COURT ORDErul that the substitution .of the representative plaintiff 

referred to above in paragraphs 1 and 2 shall continue to bind both Srilllh and the Class to the 

. prior evidence given and admissions made by Pearson previously in this proceeding. 

4. TIDS COURT ORDERS that leave is granted to the plaintiff to me a Fresh as 

Amended Statement of Claim in the form attached as Schedule "N' to this order. 

5 . TiltS COURT ORDE'RS that the certification order dated November 18, 2005 

. (the "Certiftcation Order"} is hereby amended to delete common issues 6(d), 6(e) and 6(f) from­

the Certification Order. 

6. THIS COURT OJWERS that the plaintiffs withdrawal of all claims in 

negligence is on a without costs basis. 

THIS COURT ORDERS that the class definition contained in the Certification 

Order is hereby amended to read: 

"Class" or "Class Members" means: 

All persons owning residential property since September 20, 2000 within 

the area of the City of Port Colborne bounded by Lake Erie to the south, 

Neff Road/Michael Road to the east, Third Concession to. the north and 

Cement Road/Main Street West!Hwy 58 to tile west, or where such a 
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15. TIDS COURT ORDERS that the plaintiff shall answer the following question, 

arising out of the examination for discovety of Dr. Peter Tomlinson conducted on April3, 2009, 

by no later than July 15, 2009; 5 L 

16. TIDS COURT ORDERS that the plaintiff shall answer the following questions 

arising out of the examination for discovery of Bill Berkhout conducted on April 16, 2009, l!y no 

later than July 15, 2009: 489-492. 

17. TIDS COURT ORDERS that the plaintiff shall answer the following questions 

arising out ofthe examination for discovery of Or. Mark Thayer conducted Apri123, 2009, by no 

later than July 15, 2009: 25, 30 lm.d 55. 

18. TIDS COURT ORDERS that the plaintiff shall answer the following questions 

arising out of the examination for discovery of Dr. Andrej& Skaburskis conducted. on April 27, 

2009, by no later than July 15, 2009: 157, 158,159, 160, 161 and 162. 

'!9. TIDS COURT ORDERS that: 

(a) there be no costs of the plaintiffs motion; 

(b) costs of the defendant's motion on the matters set out above l)e reserved to the 

trial judge. 

-.~CJ.u..Ldi_ 
7 '(-

......-: 
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. . . 
. . 

Xntroduct:ton 

· The Health St~y in Port .Oolborne was a p:ro:Je-ct which was 

i'lmded by t.be tea~al government in the S\l1llMl1A O~ADA 1981 . 
. ~t\WeJ~;t. .em~OYIJI!itllit P.r'9&raui• The JIUJ'llO$& oi' the project was. to 

st.udy t.be ~eal.tb. stat.ue o1' the ·c11l~zena of ~ort col.borntl. 'Who · 

have lived in the city 1'or at J:eaat ten year-a·. The project 

a.leo included. an en'rtromaental. study f~ the. ptirpose oi' :l:n.t"or-. . . . 
ming the publ.ic ·about ·the poss:1b1e health il1'fe~s o:r _.pol.-· . . ' . . . 
J.utantl<l 'Which are CO~D ·izt Qn :l:lidustri.ili ·area, · 

'.l.'he 1'oUowing r.e:POrt :i.a a deseription of the activities 

undertaken by t.he' project members as well. illB tbEI .resUJ.ts of . 
' . 

the health suryey whi:cb ·'WaS adtlti:Sn:J etered by the students. . 
_. . . . ' . 

·R.esearch ~cb was completed tbroug;bout. the 

be i'ound on the fo1lowing pages. 

.. 

... :. . . .. 

. · 

' 
l. 

.. 

. . 
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~ of de'athS oeC'III'nd between ·the ages ~~ 114- to 66 •. 

' 

. The larr;eii1i perp~~P ~f tl!.e {lopUl.a1:!.9"B we &\U':Yeye~ . 
were employed at tb.a ln1;~1liofl!d Jaekel C~mpany. ·The . 

second largest group· ~ .. retired.·. 'l'be relllaind.er ~£.oUl' . . ' ' . . . ~ 

mtl"feyed popUlation he~d job$ distr1bu;ted around the · · 

pen:f.t;isul.a w.ith the largest. conoentra:M.on in ·.the· Port 

Col.borne-Welle.nd area. . . 
117 viewing tbo prei.to\1)$ charts and graphs one. w'l.llld. . -·- ~ . 

: · probably coDU! to the aeme decisiolllll we have. Any i'urthe]' 

co~arison would not'be advisable since. the error$ of ou~ . - - - ~ -

.suin-ey and the d.U'.ferencea ·of .~e t~ Sliney:$, we compared 

.. 
,_ 

· Concl.usion • 

In the prertolis taUes .ahd ii.gures m. have foWla that . . . 
the l:ieal:th. of' tbe pcopie in Pori! c:iol.borne :L~. aatiataatc'lt · . . . 
as COllJP&:red to the health oi" Canadi.ans. · Da.e to a l.ack of· 

" " . . 
~ . . . . . . any cas~~parabl.e stud:Les n a:re unabl.e to lllake defi~te . 

. . - . . . . 
~oncl.ns:b:ana. The onl.y ~tatement wEi 'can llli11t~· wlt.h scu11e · · .. •• 

assurance· ~:s t.hat ~en· l.aoking ·at· the beal.tll probiEII!'W of · ... 
the :»:esidents of Po:i-tl Col.bo~e we see that they are " .· . . 
gl!inerflll,y beal:thy; wi.~b 110 illnesses reacbi~~g abnormal:' . . 

.. 
' . 

•.. . 

.• 

.. 

.. . 
. . 

. . 
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Ontario Ministry of the Environmc::nt' 
1998 Port Colbome Soil Sampling SuJV~Y 

Information Sheet 
• l 

' 

lnco Ltd. (i.NCO) op. ented ll. bi!SII metal. refinery. ftom1. 911 ~ 1984 inll!l.s. Citt. of Port Colbome. 
Atinospberi<l ~$sillll$ wolliated with~ ~S yeari of nic:kel refiniDS have n$;ulted in most of the 
predominate do~ area cr areasnonllfloasl o£ the facili!i willdn the Port Clblbome.c:ity limits baying 
soil nidtel. conCCDtrations thaUot ollly exceed the Ontario b~umWid soil m¥ l.wel but also exl;ted 
the cmraot Ontario ~euy of the EnvirolUIIJilllt soil remediation criterion for!$' dtel. Smaller area of 
the communlty also have elevated soil 1:4lncenln!tiollS of cobillt and copper. . · . illfolmation has been 
determined lbrough oumerouuoil and plant S'IIIVe)'! oonducted by the Ontario Ministry of the 

. EnviroJUDentbetw~ 1972and 1998. ; 

'The $oil f!llrlediadon criti'Jiion for nickel, cobalt and eopper, lire bll5iill on ph oJdcity {plant e~ts). 
The growtb of sowe plai>t specim may b!l•dVmely am.cted by soil GO~ 'ot~. that ~s thelle 
c:rlteiion. Foliar injury, ~Wric of~tQ!dciay, was obl!et'Ved on silver le treei in the 
imm~atc viciility o(INCO during a visual SUM'lY ofvegetation in 1998. Out dy INCO operates a 
precious mllW. rmnery lllld cobalt rel1oery ill Port Collw.m.e; 'neither of whiCh duee>signifinnt 
!ltmOspheric ~ou.. Sillcereliaely emissioD.t haw bceu ~yreduced !hi injUry- canolllybe 
related to uptahH;.fnic:kel from~:Prd!UrlinJiud 10il 

In addilion·to the soli and plant sw:veJS. 11m Milli&tt)' in co!Jju.nction with the~· on ofNillgw Hf$1th 
Sel"'ll.· 'c.es D. epsrtm.ent. comlu~ed a. heal.. . th. . rislusocssme~~. Ull dct. ermm .. ·. .~~ if ~o . ·. U»""tlcv. ated soil m.· eke!, 
eobalr; and copper conl:ellllaliDIIS 111 Port Colbome may ll!SIIlt in the potlllllial or ad'lllrse heallh ctfects. 
The repon &omdlls 1997 study collelu""- with 111e following stat~ts. JiJ lldlllrilnl, bt.ISell rm a . 
multi-media ~USe$$numiofJ101mrilll risb, 1111 flll.wlne hll!ll!lf/llllfff«tttue an lllcrl 1/Jnsr~ltfrom 
exposu.w: ttl Mckd, CtJIIJH!t' or Colilllt, in M>ils iallie Am (;olbome fll'tll. F...,_IIIMI, q,. revlew of 
popula4oa hemth. ·...r.iw. di4 .,et i""""re (UIJI tldvene llaJltlri.llfffem 'Wiiicla m•liii!Ve nmlted from 
emoiFDnrnemal ~mru. \ 

The 1998 soil SuJ:Vcy did not find any new or more serio11111i9il contlllllinalion f.' an _prelliouuurveys.. Tile 
1998 St\ldY Wll!l simply a more intensive slll!lpling prosnm !bat resulted in a 111 re accurate · 
understanding of the extent o( soil metal contamination in thl!l Port Colbome a . Therefore, thll · 
envitonmental data on which the health risk study was condll'eted is sound, an the ctmclusions are 
applicable to the results ofthe 1998 soU investigatiun. l . ' 

. 1 . 
Th¢ attathcll series of que$1lonJ and answers prnvlde additiQnal information orj. the most recent soil 

·, ., sui'Vey conducted in your eommunity. ... .i · 
' . I 

' 
. --~ --..... ~ . .. , ' ~ 

~'1;.1. • 

! '; 
' 

I 
t 
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3.9 Conclusions 

In the CHAP C rePort. lho miin resulls of the fest$ of the null hypotheses - that the observed 
elevated ratios of hospital disc:harges In Port Colbome relative to two !lifferent comparison groups 
are simply due to sampling v~ion • wimt reportod in Exhibits 22 to 39. These results are 
summarized in Exhibits 2 and 3. · 

In Ellhibit 2, the Cl!mpsrison group CC comisted of tha 3!1 communities that were considered 
statistically similar to Port .ColbOrnc. Amonglhc ISS ratios, 86 were reported as being signi&and~ 
lell!l than 1.0 and 19 significantly greater dian 1.0. These eslimated ratios wet!! adjusted for several 
socioeconomic variables such as the .mean lncoroe of a community lind 1hc percentage of residents 
without a high soltool eduoation. This adjustment Jflduced 1he powntial bias in the comparison 
between Port ColbO!llo sd 1ho lS communitios. A ntio less tllan 1.0 Indicates that the percentage 
of Port Colbomo msidents who ate dischllf!led ftoD'I a hoSJiilal is less than the pen:enlllgc of 
residents fi:ooJ. the oomparison group. If tho residents of Port Colbome were facing excess health 
risks due to 1heir eXpollllml to cltemioalll of conomt (COCs), onll would anticipafe 1hat they would be 
hospitalized fot vruioes diseases mere :liequently t1um reliidents not filclng socii eliJIOSUI'eS. That .Js, 
we VI'Ould expect tbc rntios ofhospilltl dlscliargo rates to be greater than 1.0. Sutprisingly, a mucb · 
larger percentage. .of the signifieunt ratitlll ~ n~e. Evon more surprising was the very large 
proportion of significant J:CS!~lla (I 05 0\lt oflS8), 

In Exhibit 3 of the CHAP C report, the comparison group NO COJillists of the 11 oornmunities in the 
Niagara Peninsula. Among the 158 Jlllios, 19 wore reported 1111 being significantly less than 1.0 and 
2!! signifieantly greater th1111 1.0. lf$e llllll hypotheses were true, we would have expected about 3 
significant fmdings (153 x O.OS = 7.9). Not on~ dkl we find DIIIIIY more (4&) but again the 
significant ratios v;crc both ~ than 1.0 (29) and less than 1.0 (19). This sutprisingly large 
percentage of significant findings in both dimtlons suggestS that. heterogeneity was not adequate~ 
accu\Jnfed for iu the analysis. 

A dataset consi;rting of 338 C.SDs (90) ~c availllble to us. Beellllsc wo were awar& of thll 
impollllnce of these fmdings to Port Colbome residents we cllose to re•unalyze tho hospital 
discllarge dat!t for cancer, acute resplmtory infection, ischemic: heart disease and as~ for the all · 
ago categories and fur the fourage categories used in lhe CHAP C report. 

There were no significantly elevated mtios for respiratory cancer using either lhe comparison group 
of 338 commanili!'ll or 1ho compariSQil group of I 1 COJIIIII'IIllties. These telllllta were corroborated 
l:lY the analysis of llllllcer incidence rates using the Ontario cancer registry data. No smtisticaUy 

·signifiCiint elevated dischllfgc rates in Port Colbomc rolativo to the mean discluugc rates In the 338 
comparison communities were found a:&r adjustment for confoundel'B. Not only was the asthma 
discharge rate in Port Colbomc not stgni&antly elevated reliltive to the 00, bllt the pra~tical 
implication ofthe elevation VI'Ould have been less than one exira hospital discharge per montllln a 
poj)\ilation of over 4000 persons under20 yearj ofage.. 

There were no significant elevated l'lllios in Port Colbome lHD discharge rates when compared tQ 
CO. However, signifu:ant inCl'<lasea in die hospital disch~ rate foX' UID among perseus in Port 
Colbome were found for residents 22-44 years of age; 65+ years of age, and people of all ages, 
when compared to the 1 I eommunitil!llin the Niagara Peninsula, 

Hospital discharge rate ratios reported in Table lS for Oisei!Se of the Circulatory System, extracted 
from Exhibilll28 to 29ln CHAP C, remind Us !hat the ratio is not greater dian 1.0 for the combined 
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. . 30 
category DiSC8MS of the C~ulatmy System nlll' llie they signiflCillltly elevated for any of the sub 
categories except IHD. 

TABL& 15 Adjul!!ted Dbcbarqe• Rate Ratil>S Reported iii CHAII C: fo:r 
Different catagorl2aj:ione. Parte of the Circulatory 
Disease system cate_gocy 

C!IAP C 
CC NG 

Ht>opital llh.cbarge categori~&s (n .. 35) (n•l1l 

Di.-eases of Cir<:ulatetry System 390~459 0.88 " 0.99 

Iscl\a1111<: lleart JJ1e.ease 4lD-414 1.18 • 1,;14 * 

Acnte Myocardial Infarction 4.10 0.98 1.11 

Heaxt Failure 428 o.ae 1.,01 

cerebru11asculax Disease 430-438 0.84 • 1.09 

This phenomlll!on is not UnllSIUII ill the health field. A dnlg or dietary intervention may Bh.ow no 
bene:6t in reducing ·t<Jtrll mortality whlle at the 119111~ t~e be ~()Ciated wilh increased 1lll>l"lality 
from one disease and a. JcdUttion. In mortality for another. SomeJimCf! this may be explained by 
miSelassifie£rtion of categories within a combined category. 

W c!land was' found to have a sillltistic:ally signifitant elevated hospital dlscluuge rate fur asthma 
compared to the comparison. gi'OUp (CO), reminding us .that even if the ev!deoce bad more strongly 
indiCated an el~M>IA!:d ratio ~r hospijt;l asthtna dischlll'ges in Port Colbome, it still would oot have 
been a result unique to li!ortColbome. 

The four h.lgbest asthma disd1lllrgc rateiHIIIlOll& th~ 12 Niaga.m Peninsula eorunumitiea occurred in 
Weiland, Port Colhetne, Niagara Falls, and Fort Brie, These four elltlllllunities have a signiflCIIII!l¥ 
higher percentage of osmokexs [27'h vs 20% (p = 0.00)], a significantly lower pereentago of post• 
high scltcol educati® (37% vs 42%, (p = 0.005)], ;mil a muciJ. lower IXIeaD income [$51,500 vs 
$60,500 per annum (p ""0.06)]. 

Tahle 16 contains the analysis ofth!!rn1ios of hospital discharge tales for Port Colborne relatiVe to 
the comparison groups CC ;md CG lllld relative to the NG comparison group. In summary, there 
were no statistically significan1 elevatiom in hospitill dischsrge rntes fo~ any of the discharge 
categories "when compared to the comparison group of 338 CSDs. the lack of all elwated hospital 
disoharge rate :fur respiratory earu:cr was eorn~lloraWC! by an ~!IIIIYsia of cancer Incidence rates using 
the Ontsrio Caneer Resistry• This Jack of statistically significantresults wetc:i conobomted by two 
further analyses, with twO new comparison datase!S created using regression methods, so as to be 
more silnilario Port Colbl!rne thmr!hfl comparison grqup of.338 eommunitiea. 

An iptriguing elevation of tho hospital diseharge me-for uthma in tho four neighbouring cities of 
Weiland, Port Colbomo, Niagara Falls, and I!"ort Erie is suggestive of an environmental effect. 
H6wever, these four communities dl~ from another eight Niagara Peqinsi.da communities in 
having a significantly higher percentage of smokm, .a significantly lower percentage of per$on• 
With post high achool education, and· a much. lower mean income. These large dif&renc!ls in three 
sru<in.!lconomic variables may provide a better Cl!planation for th~ir higher hospilal disoharge rates 
foN1sthma !han does an air ppllutiun hypothesis. . . 
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310. 
Ellen Smith - cr-ex. - Ms. Fria 

involved in the community g:J;"oup, Neighbours Helping Nei,ghbours, 
with respect to contam:ination issues? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And you were pa:tt of the East Side Health Study 

Steering Committee; that was going to look into the health of 
Rodney Street residents? 

A. Yes, I was asked to sit on that committee. 
Q. And you were a member of the Lead Task Force, 

which was set up to eXplore how to address issues about 
elevated lead levels in the community? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And you told us you•ve given over 30 interviews 

to the press about contamination issues in Port Colborne?" 
A. Approxi!IISltely yes. 
Q. And you've told us you've been very active in 

this legal proceeding, since its inception, although more 
active in later years, correct? 

A. Correct. 
Q. And over the last eight years, you have spoken 

to hundreds of residents from all over Port Colborne, about 
issues arising from soil contamination? 

A. Generally, yes. 
Q. And despite being so involved with contamination 

issues and this legal proceeding, and despite speaking with 

25 hundreds of Cl.ass members, you don' t have "any personal 
knowledge of Class members speci£ically who had difficulty 
selling their houses? 

30 

A. Specifically, no. 
Q. You are agreeing with me? 
A. Yes. 
Q. You do not have any knowledge - you do not have 

any knowledge or information respecting the ability or 
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311. 

Ellen Smith ~ C:r-ex. - Ms . Frio 

difficulty of other class members to sell their homes, from the 
period ot September 2000 forward, correct? 

A. Correct, yes . 
Q. And you have never contacted a real estate 

agent, or any professional about potentially selling your 
house? 

A. No. 
Q. 
A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

You are agreeing with me? 
Correct, yes . 
You have never listed your house for sale? 
No. 
You agreeing with me again? 
Yes. 
And you do not have- a:ny knowledge or information 

of specific residents being turned down for financing or loans, 
for the reason that there was nickel contamination on 
properties? 

A. Specific residents, no, I have no knowledge. 
Q. And you do not have any ~owledge or information 

about any specific residents having difficulty obtaining 
mortgages, loans or financing, due to contamination on their 
properties? 

A. 

Q. 

No, nothing specific. 
And I want to ask you 

loan secured against your property. 
some questions 
You agree that 

about the 
there is a 

charge currently registered against the title to your property, 
91 Rodney Street, in the principal amount of $!)6,000, that was 
registered in February of this year, 2009? 

A. Correct. 
Q. I 1 m going to pass up a copy of a printout of the 

_ Charge. And you can see qn the top of this page that I 1 ve 
''handed to you, it's a two page sheet, it says, "Charge" - "Name 
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312. 

Ellen Smith - Cr-e:x:. ~ Me. Frio 

- Edt~ards, Craig Victor, 91 Rodney Street", that's your 

husband, correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And then beneath that it says, 11 Nam~;~ - Smith, 

El:Len Marian, 91 Rodney Street•, thatis obviously you.? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And then \ll1der "Provisions" the heading - and 

10 you can see the line "Principal $86,000.00" correct? 

15 

20 

25 

30 

A. Co.rrect. 

Q. And you agree that this is a p;dntout of the· 

Charge that's been registered against the title to your 

property? 

A. First of all, I've never seen the actual Charge 

as it is, and tt>1o, this is not my property in reference to. 

Q. The Charge is registered against the title to 91 

Rodney Street, correct? 

A. Right. 

Q. And 91 Rodney Street is your property, correct? 

A. Correct. 

MS. FRIC: Okay, perhaps we could mark this for 

identification purposes. 

THE COURT: The printout with respect to the Charge 

will be the next exhibit. 

COURTROOM REGISTRAR: Exhibit Number 12 Your Honour. 

THE COURT: Thank you. . 

EXHIBIT NUMBER 12 - Charge/Mortgage - 91 Rodney 

Street - Produced .and marked. 

MS. FRIC: Q. And this Charge 

credit that you and your husband took out 

year? 

A. No.t exactly, no. 

relates to a line of 

in February of this 

Q. The Charge is security for an on-demand loan in 
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the amount of $86,000, correct? 
A. 

Q .• 

That's what it states, yes. 
And that's a line of credit that you and your 

husband took out in February of this year? 
A. Correct. 
Q. And you are personally liable to pay back 

qutstanding amounts under that line of credit? 
10 A. Yes. 
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Q. You guaranteed the loan the bank made on the 
line of crEldit? 

A. Yes. 
Q.. You stand to lose your family home at 91 Rodney 

Street, if the loan is not paid back? 
Yes. 

Q. The line of credit is from the TD Bank? 
A. In Port Colborne, yes. 
Q. And I believe you said in your evidence that 

thato.s the same branch of the.TD :Sank that was a previous one 
that you had dealt with? It was previously a Canada Trust 
Branch, is that correct? 

A. Yes, that's correct. 
Q. And a few years ago, you applied to that branch 

o.f the TD Canada Trust for a small loan of a couple thousand 
do.llars, correct? 

A. Correct. 
Q. And that loan was to purq®se a useci vehicle? 
A. At the time, yes. 
Q. And the TD Bank would not loan you the money at 

that time, unless you and your husband took out a line of 
credit, secured against your house, correct? 

A. The money was being ;;.sked for by craig, my 
husband, it wasn't being asked for by me. 
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Q, So your husband, Craig Edwards, approached the 

bank for a small loan of a few thousand dollars? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And at that time he was receiving his disability 

pension, correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. In roughly the same amount that he now receives 

10 it, correct? 
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A. At that time no, it was a bit lower. 

Q. A bit lower. How much was it then? 

A. There's been cost ·of living increases like less 

than one percent every year, so I don • t know. 

Q. Okay, so other than cost of living increases, 

the amount is roughly the same now as it was when he sought the 

small loan for the used car, correct? 

A. It was close, yes. 

Q. And the bank would not loan him that money, 

unless you and your husband took out a line of credit secured 

against your house, correct? 

A. Not that I remember, no. 

Q. Well the bank would not give you the money 

unless you and your husband took out a line of credit, correct? 

A. They were going to give us a line of credit, 

yea. 

Q. And to be clear, the loan was not refused 

because of contamination concerns? 

A. I don't !mow what the loan was refused for. 

Q. Well, you. know it was not refused because of 

contamination concerns, correct? 

A. 

Q. 

No, I don't know that. 

Could we turn to volume one of the transcript of 

Ms. Smith's evidence of examination - from her examination for 
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Ms. Smith, 
on July 8th, 
A. Yes. 

do you recall being examined for 
2009? 

Q. Less than six months ago, correct? 
A. Correct. 
Q. And you recall being asked certain questions and 

'giving certain answers? 
10 A. Yes, I do. 

15 
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87/12/94\ 

Q. I'd like to read from the transcript of that 
examinatiOn, starting at page 120.. Page 120, the question 
starts at - I guess we should start with the question, at page 
119, line 25, question 515. 

"515 Q. No, but I guess what I •m trying 
to get at is that if you say that it's a 
not true that you were turned down for a 
small loan, then that's fine. We just need 
to ask you about it. If it is true, let's 
hear about it. If it's not trne, you have 
an opportunity to tell us. Whatever it is, 
we're happy with the answer. 
A. I believe at the time. we were looking 
to the bank to purchase a used vehicle and 

were looking for a small loan, which was 
less than a couple thousand do.llars" and at 
that point they wouldn't give us -- they 
wouldn't give us any money unless we took 
out, like; a line of credit type and that's 

all it was. 
MR. LOWENSTEIN: I see. 
BY MS. FRIG: 
516 Q. Which bank didyou apply to? 
A. Canada Trust. 
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517 Q. Canada Trust. The same one that 
you sued for your mortg<;~ge and the recent 
one; is that right? 

A. Correct. 
518 Q. The same branch? 
A. Correct. 
BY MR. LOWENSTEIN: 

10 519 Q. So the minutes c;lre wrong •.. 

15 

20 

25 

30 

And we were looking at minutes of a meeting, you might recall . 
... to the extent that they imply that it 
had to do with contamination? 'It was 
nothing to do with contamination? 
A. No, it was nothing t.o do with 
contaminat.ion. 
MR. LOWENSTEIN; I see. All right. 

And I can take you to the minutes of the meeting if we need to 
do that as well, but this may help· refresh your memory. Do you 
recall being 

A. 

Q. 

asked those questions ... 

were true when 
A. 
Q. 

A. 
Q. 

July 8th, 2009 

Yes, I do. 

... and giving those answers? 
you gave them? 
When I gave them, yes, 
And they' re true today? 
No, they're not. 

And those answers 

What's changed between July - a few months ago, 
and today Ms. Smith? 

A. In the discussions with my husband regarding the 
mortgage and the property on Chippawa Road, he was also 

explaining to me the fact of his line of credit and how it was 
initially got through the bank with him. 1 was not present 
when he negotiated any of the line of credit for this loan, for 
the property he bought. It's through his own person~l b~nk 
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account. It's not - we're not joint owners on that bank 
account and he did the negotiations for his own personal bank 
account, not me. 

Q. And that's the only thing that • s changed between 
July Bth, 2009 and today? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And the monthly payments on the amounts that 

10 have been drawn under your February 2009 line of credit, were 
about $500 a month in July 2009, correct? 
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A. Around that, yea . 
Q. And is it the same monthly amount today? 
A. Yes. 
Q. And your 

about ~3,500 that Craig 
pension, correct? 

A. Correct. 

family's sole source of income is the 
Edwards receives fz·om his disability 

Q. so, any risk t.o 'rD on this February 2009 loan, 
comes from the security the bank has on the ~1 Rodney Street 
property, correct? 

A. 
Q. 

Correct. 
And before th.;~ TO Bank made the loan in February 

2009, it did not obtain an appraisal of the property at 91 
Rodney Street, correct? 

correct. A. 
Q. Now Ms. Smith, I put it to you that you went 

with your husband, Craig Edwards, tc;> the TO Bank in order to 
negotiate the personal li~e of credit which resulted in the 
purchase of the Chippawa Street property, correct? 

A. I went with Craig to the bank, yes. Not to 
negot~iate a line of credit. 

Q. Could be go back .to volume one of Ms. Smith's 
examination for discovery. :r•m going to be reading from page 



s 

10 

15 

2Q 

25 

51 

318. 
Ellen Smith - G!r•ex. - Ms. Fric 

96, starting at question 421. 
421. Q. You went with Craig to the bank 
in order to negotiate the personal line of 
credit which resulted in the purchase of 
the Chippawa Street property, correct? 
A. Correct. 

Do you recall being asked that cruestion and giving that answer 
Ms. Smith? 

A.. Yes, ! do. 
Q. And was that answer true when you gave it? 
A. In a fact of I went with him to the bank, yes. 

I didn't have any part in the negotiating. 
Q. But the question 

order to negotiate the personal 
question asked, wasn't it? 

said, you went to the ·bank in 
line of credit, that's what the 

A. Yes, it was. 
Q. And in answer to that question, you answered 

•correct •. 1'hat • s what the transcript states, yes? 
A. 

Q. 

Yes. 
And was that answer true? 

A. At that point, to the best of my recollection, 
yes. 

Q. And nothing has changed between July Sth, 2009 

and today, correct? 
A. Meaning? 

an extension on his ]_ine 
I didn't negotiate the loan. 
of credit. 

It was 

Q. Okay, well you were there when he - what you 1 re 
telling me now, is that you were there when he negotiated? 

A. No, I wasn't. 
Q. Okay, well let 1 s go a little further in the 

· 30 trans.cript, ao let • s start again. 
42-'l Q. You went with Craig to the bank in 
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order to negotiate the personal line of 
credit which resulted in the purchase of 
the Chippawa Street property, correct? 
A. Correct. 
422. Q. Didyou express any view to the 
bank or didyou give them any facts 
concerning the value of you:t' house at 91 

Rodney in relation to its suitability to be 
collateral for the loan? 
A. Fxom ll1Y r<Ocollection the bank never 
asked us to provide any documentation 
because we have dealt with Canada Trust for 
a number of years and, whatever information 
they have on file they have. 

So first, Clo you recall being asked those questions and giving 
tho~se answers? 

A. In discoveries, yes. 
Q, And those answers were true, when you gave them? 
A. Yes. 
Q. And you understand that Mr. Edwards told the 

bank that he wanted the money from the lin<O of credit, to 
purchase a piece of property on Chipp;awa RQad, in Port 
colborne? 

A. Correct. 
Q. And although you w«:lre guaranteeing 

did not ask your husband if soil testing was done 
property? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

No, we never talked about it. 
You did not ask him, correct? 

No, I did not ask him. 

the loan, 
on that 

you 

Q. And you do not know if there was soil testing 
done on t.he property, prior to your husband purchasing it? 
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A. No. 

Q. 

A. 
You don't know? 
I don't know. 

Q. Ms. Smith, I'm now turning to ask you questions 
about the MOE's orders. You told us in your evidence ~ well 
perhaps I'll put it this way; you would agree that the MOE 
released a draft order on March 30th, 2001, that stated the 

10 intention to order Inca to remediate properties with OV'er 
10,000 parts per million nickel in soils? 
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A. Correct. 

Q. And at this level, there were 16 properties in 
the Rodney Street area that were found to require remediation? 

A. 
Q. 

Correct. 
And you agree that in the next month, April 

2001, Inca announced that it would voluntarily remediate the 16 
properties? 

A. Correct. 
Q. I'm going to volume eight of the joint book of 

documents. Sorry, Tab 589 1 Tab 589. And just very briefly on 
this document. It's dated April 24th, 2001? 

A. Correct. 
Q, Correct, and in the first paragraph it states ~ 

it is written to the Mayor and the Council of the City of Port 
Colborne. And the first paragraph states: 

This letter is intended to advise the 

Mayor, City Council and the residents in 

the Rodney street area that Inca Limited 
plans to move forward to voluntarily 

remediate ... 
And then it refers to the 16 properties, correct? 

A. 
Q. 

Correct. 
And then it says, in the second paragraph: 
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TUESDAY, OCTOBER 20, 4009 

ELLEN SMITH 

CONTINUED FROM VOLUME ONE 

E.lLQJi)2§ 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MS. FRIC: 

Q. Ms. Smith, you will recall that we left off and 

I was showing you a letter from December 2003 by the Ministry 

of the Environment that had approved I nco • s remediation plan1 

A. Correct. 

Q. And ultimately, in the summer and fall of 2004, 

you will recall that Mr. Gillespie's other clients, the other 

property owners subject to the order, resolved any concerns 

they had and remediation began on their properties, correct? 

A. I believe so, yes. 

Q. And other than the five properties that were 

remediated in 2.001, out of the 2S properties requiring 

20 remediation, al;l. the others were remediated in the fall and 

winter of 2004? 

25 

30 

A. I believe so, yes. 

Q. And we know that out of the 25 properties 

subject to the order, they have all been remediated except for 

the property owned by you and lilr. Edwards. You don',t dispute 

that the remediation work on those other 24 properties was done 

in accordance with the MOE's order? 

A. No, I don't dispute that,. 

Q. And you agree that it 1 s we~l known in the 

community that all properties with nickel levels over 8,000 

parts per million in the s-oil, have been remedip;ted, but for 

your property? 

A. · Correct • 
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Q. And you agree that the offer has made to you and 
Mr. Edwards to remediate yo\lr property, is essentially the same 
as WhC\t has been pr<l>vided to the owners of the other 24 
properties? 

A. 
Q. 

EssentiC\llY t.he same, yes . 
And if other clients of' Mr. Gillespie had 

concerns abo1;1t dirt being cleaned around their foundations, or 
about moving decks to get at soil underneath the deck, those 
types of concerns were being ad¢l;r~;>ssed to the property o~mers ' 
satisfaction, by the time of the summer and fall of 2004, 

10 correct? 
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THE COURT: Just a second. Mr. Gillespie. 
MR. GILLESPIE: Your Honour, I don't know that that's 
an appropriate question for this witness, simply 
because it's explo.ring, you know, communications - it 
sounds like, potentially, between counsel .and other 
people 111ho were represented by the same counsel. In 
other words, Ms. Smith may have knowledge because, as 
you know, there is a rule when you have a co­
retainer, that there are no secre·ts between counsel 
and the clients in any way, shape or form. So 
whatever somebody else's concerns may have been, that 
they chose to discuss under the privilege of 
solicitor I client, .... 
THE COURT: All right, I thought you were going to 
object on hearsay grounds, but you are objecting on 
the basis of solicitor/client privilege? 
MR. GILLESPIE: Well YE>S, I mean, as Your Honour is 
aware, there is a huge amount of hearsay that's 
already been received .•. 
THE COURT: Right. 
MR. GILLESPIE: , .. because we've got thousands of 

examples of it. But no, I think if we rose on every 
hearsay, we woul~'t get the trial ever completed. 
But, I think this one dOes engage solicitor/client 



5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

30 

56 
354. 

E:llen Smith - Cr-ex. - Ms'. Fric 

conversation with Mr. Gillespie at the time. t had a general 
idea of what the concerns were. 

And you 

replace 

Q. And if you move on to point three, Inco states: 
3. The replacement sqi~ will be 
appropriate material as would be obtained 
from any topsoil provider for residential 
yard work. 

knew 
A. 

our 
Q. 

that 
I 

soil 

was 
knew 
with 

Inco's position, correct? 
their position was they didn't want to 
what we had, yes. 

They were willing to replace it with topsoil, 
that anyone would use for residential yard work, cor:r:ect? 

A. Correct. 
Q. And number four, it states: 

4. Consistent with all of the other 
propeJ::tY owner,s who nave) had their 
properties remediated in accordance with 
the MOE Order, Inco will warranty the 
remediation and soil removal/replacement 
work for a period of 1,8 montlls from the 
date of completion of the remediation for 
e:ach applicable property. 

So you knew that Inco was willing to give you an 18 month 
warranty, correct? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And Ms. Edward~:~ - and you rejected this offer 

from !nco, correct? 

the two 

because 
because 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

1-le didn't agree with it, no. 
You didn't accept it, correct? 
Correct. 
And I understand your evidence, that ultimately 

reasons that you did not accept this offer were first 
type that you wanted and second, 
as long as you wanted, correct? 

the soil was not the 
the warranty was not 

A. Mainly, yes. 
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Q,. You would agree that the 24 other propert!{ 
owners were not provided with a three year warranty? 

A. ! don•t know what they were provided with. 
Q. Well, you agree 'that the warranty provided t,o 

5 the other homeowners was s;~.tisfactory to the Ministry of the 
Environment? 

10 

15 

A. To the Ministry, yes it was. 
Q. So you wanted a term for a warranty that was in 

addition to the warranty that was satisfactory to the MOE, 
correct? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And you agree that the quality of the soil 

proposed by Inca, was acceptable t,o the other property owners? 
A. Yes. 
Q. And you agree that the soil proposed by Inca was 

satisfactory 

A. 

Q. 

to the Ministry of the Environment? 
Apparently it was, yes. 
And as matters stand, the Ministry of the 

Environment has stated that Inca's offer to remediate your 
property is satisfactory in compliance with its order and it 
ha:;; not a~>ked Inco to comply with your demands, correct? 

2o A. You're going to have t,o repeat that, I'm sorry. 

25 
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Q. Okay. As matters stand, the Ministry of the 
Environment views Inco•a offer as being satisfactory and in 
compliance with its order, correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And it has not forced Inca to comply with your 
demands, correct? 

A. They haven't f'orced them, no. 
MS. FRIC: Those are all the questions I have Your 
Honour. 

THE COURT: Thank you. Re-examination? We can 
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comprehensiV'e regional 
1991, which was one of 
soil sampling program. 

surveys in the Port Colborne area, in 
the first times we did a community wide 
And at that time - as a result of that 

work done in 1991, soil nickel levels were found to be in the 
And that is 9,000 to 1.0,000 range, 

what prompted the 1997 
as a maximum concentration. 
risk assessment. So that '97 risk 

assessment was done to study the potential for health impacts 
10 from the 1991 survey. 

15 

20 

Q. And what was the bottom line finding of the 1997 
HHRA? 

A. That based on what we believed to be the highest 
nickel concentrations in the url:lan residential area of Port 
Colborne, of about 9, 700 ppm, between 9, 000 and 10 1 00'0 ppm, 
that there wasn't a health impact for any age group in Port 
Colborne. 

Q, Okay, now prior to that time, as you detail in 
some of the subsequent paragraphs of your affidavit, there had 
been .assessments done by what you reference as the 
phytotoxicology section, or PS, of the MOE. I am wondering if 
you could just generally disc;uss the type of work that had been 
done prior to the 1997 HHRA? 

A. Now on Friday we ta,lkeci a lot about our 
complaint investigations. Are you asking me to continue on 
that discussion, or discuss other activities that we were 

25 involved in? 

30 

AG 0081 [1:1194) 

A. Well, I believe that we had focused on complaint 

investigatisns in urban residential settings and you had given 
us your evidence in that area. And unless there was something 
you needed to add - and sorry, the answer to that is? 

A. No, there was nothing ,further that was required 
to add to tbat. So, what l •11 be talking about briefly then 
is, the other kinds of historical studies that the 
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consult;;~nt, ,Jacques Whitford Environmental Limited, that based 
on records that were being reviewed at the time, about 97 

percent of the nickel that was present in the Po.rt Colbo:rne 
community, in about 2001, was there as a result of historical 
emissions, wh;i.ch occurred probably before about 1.960. The 
implication being, of course, that had the Ministry come in, in 
1970, when it was formed, and essenti;;~1ly worked with Inca to 

10 stop all atmospheric emissions at the time; everything coming 
out of the stack, everything coming off of the site from 
windows and doors and other fugitive emissions, if we were 
successful in completely abating all emissions from Inca in 
1970 or 1971 when the Ministry was first formed, it wouldn't 
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~ 0087 (1"2194) 

have made a measurable difference in the amount of nickel which 
was known to exist in Port Col,borne, in the soil in Port 
Colborne in 2001, because the vast majority of that - in this 
case about 97 percent - was deposited before 1960, as a result 
of historical emissions from the refinery. 

Q. And to the best of your knowledge what, if any, 
debate or controversy is there around that issue today? 

A. I don't believe there's any debate at all around 
that. We accept that and :tnco accepts that and :tnco's 
consultants accept that and at discussions around the table 
with the members of the stakeholders in the Community Based 
Risk Assessment, which is still ongoing, that's an accepted 

fact. 
Q. Now sir, I'm just going to touch on this again 

very briefly. But I am going to ask from your knowledge and 
experience, what Inco•s record regarding regulatory compliance 
was like? 

A. I can't fairly address that because regulatory 
compliance on a day-to-day basis '\'lOUld be the responsibility of 
the environmental officers in our operations division, in this 
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ot the public, to the effect ·that the MOE 

(and the Public Health Department) "did not 

believe there was any immediate risk to 

human health while further studies were 

being conducted". 

Again, that 1 s still correct information today? 

A. That 1 s correct. An.d that 1 s based on our 

understanding if nickel toxicity and exposure. It's not - this 

is a threshold, contaminant and it's based on a long time -

usually modelled as a lifetime exposure. And even though we 

were reviewing the risk assessment at the time, because of 

these elevated soil levels, the conclusion from our 

toxicologists, senior scientists and concurred by the Health 

Department was that short term exposure to elevated soil nickel 

levels, as such that we found in the east side community, 

wouldn't pose an immediate risk; certainly not in the timeframe 

that were anticipating a revised health study to be done, which 

was in about the six month timeframe .. - And, in addition to that 

statement, we also produced and distributed broadly in the 

community, steps that one could take to reduce their exposure. 

So, even though we didn't beJ,ieve at that time that there was 

an immediate r:isk to health, we were obviously taking steps to 

investigate that, to ensure that there wasn • t a health risk. 

And, until that revised report was available, these are 

additional things that you and your family can do·to reduce 

exposures. 

Q. And paragraph 58 indicates: 

Contrary to what the plaintiff alleges, the 

MOE's statements have at all times been 

true, based on the information available at 

the time. Moreover, based on informa.tion 

provided by (Public Health) it appears that 
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there has been an absence of any overt 
evidence of health impacts to this 
community related to current exposure to 
environmental soil contaminants. Even the 
MOE's latest HERA (the October 2001 draft, 
finalized March 2002 HERA) confirms that 
potential health risks are confined to a 
small number of Rodney Street Community 
!?roperties (25), and that those risks will 
only continue to exist until the properties 
are cleaned up . 

.And is that still your understanding of matters in l?ort 
Colborne? 

A. Yes, it is. And of course subsequent to that, 23 
of the 24 residential properties and one of the park properties 
have been cleaned up. 

Q. Then there is reference to nickel - being 
exposed to nickel and statements that had been made about 
whether or not that nickel \Oias. or was not nickel oxide. That's 
dealt with in paragraph 59. And then there's discussion on the 
next page, paragraph 60: 

Moreover, to the extent that the pre-2001 
documents refer to nickel, they are 
referring to the total amount of nickel 
that can be identified·using standard 
widely used chemical analysis protocols, 
most commonly ICI? (Inductively COUJ?led 
Plasma) spectroscopy. This is an industry 

standard in which all nickel compounds that 
are present in the soil are dissolved by 

acid into elemental nickel. It yields a 
concentration which is commonly and 
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. 
Q. So, what if any knowledge do you- have about the 

conclusions that we:r:e reached in that document, about whether 
or not nickel oxide falls within one of the classifications of 
Health Canada's regime? 

A. My understanding is that nickel oxide is 
potential carcinogen when breathed in for a longer period of 
time, and those studies were based on - as I understand them, 
were based on studies of indUii!trial or occupationally exposed 
cohortl3, of which they were exposed to a combination of nickel 
substances, of which nickel oxide would be one of them. And it 
wasn't possible, as l understand it, to confidently identify 
t:~pec1f.ically which species of nickel was promoting the 
carcinogenic response, and so nickel oxide was ;included as part 
of, or one of, that series of nickel species that was part of 
the occupational exposure. 

Q. Now sir, in yo11r affidavit you refer to 
statements made by plaintiffs' counsel, and that's what you say 
in the affidavit. But, I'm going t:o ask you specifically., to 
!;he-best of your knowledge, were those statements emanating 
from anyone else that you•re aware of, that would have had a 
little more scientific knowledge than plaintiffs' counsel 
might? 

A. You're referring to the statements in the 
affidavit about the known carcinogenic response to exposure to 

25 nickel oxide? 

30 

087(12194) 

Q.. Yes. And the ..•• 
A. I'm sorry, can you rephrase your question 

please? 
Q. Well, I •11 direct you back into your affidavit 

and that may be the easiest. In paragraph 71, it says: 
Despite the release of the March 2001 HHRA 
and despite rEOpeatedly misleading and 
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alarmist news released by plaintiff's 
counsel concerning the health impacts of 
nickel oxide on the people of Port 
Colborne, •.• 

So tny question is simply, here you've identified in your 
affidavit the news releases by plaintiffs• counsel; I'm just 
asking if you have knowledge of anyone other than "plaintiffs' 

10 counsel", who might be in a position to comment more 
scientifically, having made those types of statements about the 
health impacts of nickel oxide on the people of Port Colborne? 

15 

20 

A. I'm sorry, I'm still not sure what you're asking 
me. Are you asking, is there the - were there other statements 
about the carcinogenicity, or potential carcinogenicity of 
nickel oxide made by other people at .that time? 

Q. Yes. 
A. Is that what you•re asking? 
Q. And specifically that emanated through, or in 

relation to the plaintiff, 
A. Well there was an awful lot of media coverage at 

that time, after the release of the March 2001 and subsequent 
risk assessments that the Ministry produced. And there was a 
lot of discussion around potential for nickel - particularly 
nickel oxide, to be associated with cancer in the community. 
There was a lot of concern and anxiety in the community about 

25 that. And there. were statements in the media, from the 
plaintiffs' counsel and I believe there may even have been some 

30 

from Mark Richardson and a few other people that spoke to the 
media at the time. And, the implication was that if you say 
nickel oxide and cancer in the same sentence as soil 
contamination, the implicati.on is that exposure to nickel in 

. 
soil, even if it's nickel oxide, has the potential to cause 
cancer. And, as clearly identified in the risk assessment, 
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that was not the case, It's the potential carcinogenisticity 
of exposure to nickel oxide through the inhalation - excuee me, 
throl.tgh tb.e inhalat.ion pathway only, that has the potential to 
cause· cancer. And sa there was a lot of, in my opinion, fairly 
reckless or misleading statements to the press that by 

implication would suggest that becau$e there's nickel oxide in 
the soil - one being exposed to nickel in the soil, could lead 

10 to cancer. And that 1 s not the conclusion of risk assessment 

15 

20 

25 

30 

Kl01 (12/94) 

and that's not my understanding of the science. I'm sorry, 
have I answered your question? 

MR. GILLESPIE: Yes, if I might just have a moment 
Your Honour. Your Honour, we've remarkably made it 
to 2:30 in the afternoon before we've had to ask for 
the court's assistance on what we hope will a minor 
point of law. 
THE COURT: All right . 
MR, GILLES_PIE: But, it might be appropriate to have 
MX:· McLaughlin stood down just for a moment, and 
excused. 
THE COURT: You would like Mr. McLaughlin to leave 
the courtroom for a few moments? 
MR. GILLESPIE: That I think would be appropriate 
Your Honour. 
THE COURTo All right, would you just wait out in the 

corridor for a few moments sir. 
MR. MCLAUGHLIN EXCLUDED FROM THE COURTROOM 
SUBMISSlONS B~ MR. GILLESPIE - REQUEST TO CROSS 

EXAMINE PLAINTIFFS 1 WITNESS 
SUBMISSIONS BY MR. LOWENSTEIN 
REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. GILLESPIE 

FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY J\IIR, LOWENSTEIN 

R !!! .Q .!Ui .e. 
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'93, '94, • 95 period of. time, where we had a couple of years <::>f 
data. Now, we know from looking at that historic data and the 
current information that we've obtained from the ongoing air 
monitoring that's still happening in Port Colborne, that 
ambient air levels now are lower than they would have been in 
19!B, 1994, 1995, upon which these calculations were based. 
And there's discussion around that in the risk assessment 

10 document that we're obligated to make a calculation. We made a 
calculation based on the best information we had and that 

15 

20 

calculation suggested a risk of somewhere between a few in a 
hundred thousand and one or two in a million, and that that was 
a guess, and that it could be updated at' a later time. And 
this issue has been very controversial and we•ve kept the 
Rodney Street monitors, air monitors in place, since - I think 
they were put in there in 2001. And they're still going now. 
We have almost eight years of data. It's pretty clear from 
looking at that data that regardless of how you calculate the 
cancer risk and use ... the World Health organization or the EPA's 
cancer risk, or Environment Canada's cancer risk, whichever one 
you decide to use, it really it a bit of a moot argument now, 
because you see that that longterm monitoring that we have 
under way in the Rodney Street community, that those air 
monitors would suggest very clearly that the average nickel 
levels in the air in Port Colborne are no different than the 

25 average nickel levels in communities across Ontario and in 
fact across Canada that don't have a nickel refinery. So, 

30 

regardless of how you do the cancer calculations, the risk to 
residents from nickel in air in Port Colborne, is no greater 
than the risk to resident in virtually any other Ontario 
community or city in Canada, that don't have a nickel refinery. 

Q. Now where is that data being dealt with? Whe;~;e 

is it being assessed? 
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A. Again, you are :not referring to the three hi-

vola which are there now? 

Q. I am referring to those, I just wanted to deal 

with it since you raised it, My \.\llderstanding is that Inco 

committed to keeping them there for as long as the CBRA was 

going: on, but as far as the MOE was concerned, there's no 

present concern as to air quality; indeed, you told U$ that air 

10 quality monitoring is well within Ministry guidelines? 

15 

20 

A. That' s right. The purpose of establishing those 

was to provide an idea of th.e current air quality in Port 

Colborne, particularly the east side community, so that we 

could be satisfied that our health risk assessment, done in 

200J .. a~u~ 2002, was correct in relation to our assumptions about 

the exposure to current air quality. And, we also felt that it 

would be a very useful longterm, relatively speaking - you 

know, several years, longterm data base that would be helpful 

f.or the Community Based Risk Assessment.. They could then have 

current longte;rm ambient air dat;a for use in the Human Health 

Ri~;~k Asses.sment fo:r; the CSM and, at some time in the future, 

perhaps now, or some time around now, the need would no longer 

be there, because the Ministry had completed its work; because 

the CSAA has - that those" science studies have been completed, 

and we have almost 10 years of data tb look back on and we are 

satisfied that the concentrations of nickel in air, in the 

25 Rodney street community now, haven't changed in the last 10 

·ao 

a 0(18r <12194> 

yea;rs and they are consistent in all ways with air quality in 

other communities across the Province - with communities that 

don't have a nickel refinery. And so, there would be no need 

to continue them much past today. We've already started to 

have those discussions with our Ministry colleagues. 

Q. Thank you. The only other area :r want to touch 

on .by way of what I call the overall regulatory umbrella of the 
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March 2002 report was slightly revised frOlll the October 2001, 
because we adjusted the final report to reflect comments 
received by stakeholders through that review pe:dod. The 
important thing is that even though the report looked a little 
different and you know, the;re was some text that was cUfferent, 
the result ie the intervention level did not change. So, che 
March 2002 report reaffirmed the 8,000 ppm intervention level. 

10 Q. All right, and you've said a number of impor,tant 

15 

things here, so let me just stop you there. You told us 
yesterday that the error in the March 2001 report had 
occasioned some embarrassment to the Ministry of.the 
Environment and· some concern? 

A. That•s an understatement, yes. It was a wry 
embarrassing issue for the Ministry. 

Q. And in part, to address that concern, the 
Ministry, as I understand it, commissioned different and more 
sophisticated testing, according to this communique, which 
provided significant enhancements to the Human Health Risk 
Assessment? 

A. Yes, we did a number of additional things that 
weren't done in the March 2001 report. 

Q. In addition, you enlisted .an e:xpert 
international peer review panel, to ensure that the report was 
revised to include the most precise and leading edge science? 

2s A. Correct. 

30 

087(12194) 

Q. And that - those internationally known e:xperts 

included, for example, or. Tor Norseth? 
A. Yes, that's correct. 
Q. And he is? 
A. He was at that time a profeesor with t:he Oslo 

University in Norway. He was also - I don't recall his 
professional title, but he was a senior toxicologist in the 
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National Health - I'm sorry, I don't recall the exact 

association, but it's that National - Norway :National Health 

Institute. 

Q. Tb.e leading figure in the field? 

A. He was. We chose him because he had extens.ive 

professional experience with nickel .in the environment and the 

nickel refining industry generally. Norway and Russia share a 

10 big - a big - a long history of n;ickel refining. 

ts 

20 

Q_ It included at least one American toxicologist 

of great repute, as I recall? 

A. Ac:tua;tly had three. We had John Wheeler from 

the Centre for Disease Control. We had Ambika - I believe her 

last name is pronounced Bathija, from the US Environmental 

Protection Agency and we had Lynne Haber from Toxicological -

oh, what 1 s· the name of that organization, TERA, T-E-R-A -

Toxicological Excellence in Risk Assessment. 

Q. 'Ihank you. Any other members of the panel that 

you can rlacall? 

A. Let 1 s see - we had John Wheeler, we had Ambika, 

we had - we had Dr. Jin from the Ontario Ministry of Health and 

Longterm Care. And we also had on our panel, Rosalind Schoof -

Dr. Rosalind Schoof, who was a toxicologist in a private 

consultant firm. She's currently with Integralin Environment 

at the time, and we had her joint the panel because she had 

25 internationally recognized expertise, not only in risk 

assessment but in arsenic, and arsenic was one of the 

contaminants that wer~e evaluating in our risk assessment. 

30 

Q. So to the extent sir, that we. now have it that 

even at the 8,000 ppm intervention, you had added another nine 

properties to the cleanup list, the MOE was now ful;ty 

satisfied, I suggest,_ that as far as the Rodney Stre.et 

Community ~ you sometimes refer to it as the east side 
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comlilUnity, was concerned, any uncertainty as regards health 

ri~;Jk which might have been occasioned from the f.inding of high 

levels. in the Smith/Edwards property, was addressed and put to 

rest as of October 30, 2001? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And that uncertainty, to the extent that it 

existed, was geographically limited, r suggest to you, to that 

10 Rodney Street community, based on all the testing that you had 

15 

done? 

A. That was our belief at the time, yes. It still 

is our belief today. 

Q. So, it ;.ms limited both geographically and 

temporarily to the six month period concluding October 30, 

2001? 

A. Yes. 

Q. After which, as far as the Ministry of the 

Environment was concerned, there was no uncertainty as regards 

health consequences to the Rodney street community? 

A. Correct. 
20 

Q. To return you to your affidavit, which we marked 

yesterday as Exhibit 55, I will just - if you will bear with 

me, I win just read you what you had in that affidavit. It 

may not be necessary to actually turn it up. So essentially, 

from a risk - before I read you the paragraph - from a risk 

25 assessment perspective, there was no change in the October 2001 

report which was posted on the EBR, and the March 2002 final 

Rodney Street risk assessment, as peer reviewed? 

A. Yes, that's correct. 

Q. And what you said in paragraph 58 of your 

affidavit, the last line: 

Even the MOE's latest UHRA (the October 

2001 draft, finalized March 200·2. HHRA) 
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you and your colleagues, or your Ministry being sued for seven 
hundred and fifty million dollars, with the basic allegation 
that you didn't know what you were doing and didn't understand 
cancer risks and hadn't warned the local residents. I take it 
that didn't assist matters? 

A. That certainly heightel:led the concern in senior 
management. 

Q. And I take it a stream of press releases and 
other communications concerning lead - it's not just nickel, 
:it's lead, and other issues as to cancer risks and other 
things, certainly qontributed to a climate of intense media 
scrutiny in this town at the time? 

A, That certainly added to our challenges in 
managing that file anc~ communicating inf.ormation to the 
community. 

Q. I take it sir that you would agree with me that 
as a litmus test of a resident's concern about nickel levels 
and property levels, the failure of the Smith/Edwards household 
to get their property remediated, does not exactly indicate an 

· intenSJil level of concern that they had al:Jout health? 
A. t would respond to that question in two ways. I 

was disappointed that Craig and Ellen diQ.n•t elect to clean up 
their property. The Ministry does what it does in communities 
across the Province to ensure the health and saf~ety of families 

25 and the protection of the natural environment. And they 
certainly would have fallen into that cat.egory. I think if I 
were in their position, I would have proceeded to clean up the 
property and the. pursue !nco· with their concerns after the 
fact. liowever, I would also add that these decisions are not 

30 

P/30087(12194) 

easy decisions to be made and I'm sure it wasn't taken lightly 
by thei~r family. And, the Ministry also provided, in the 
interim, a lot of public information on how to reduce one's 
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exposure and perhaps thai: helped them make that difficult 

decision - they felt that the information provided by the 
Ministry may provide the degree of protection required, until 
the issue could be resolved to their satisfaction. 

Q. Fair enough, thank you. On the issue of indoor 
air quality, I also wanted to reter you to the treatment of 
that subject by the Jacques Whitford Environment report, the 

10 CBRA report by Inco•s consultant. Are you familiar with that 
report? 

15 

20 

25 

:JO 

ObB7M/941 

A. Which report again, r•m sorry? 
Q. The JWEL report . 
A. For the Human Health Risk Assessment? 
Q. Yes. 
A. Yes. 
MR. GILLESPIE: Your Honour, .I just wonder, there has 
been consensus around certain reports coming before 
Your Honour, specifically the ones that are in the 
joint document book. I'm not sure whether this one 
is or isn't? 
MS. FRIC: Yes, it is. 
MR. GILLESPIE: It is? And ... 
MS. FRIC: Tab 856. 
THE COURT: I certainly looked at one maybe six weeks 

ago 
MR. GILLESPIE: Yea,. and 
THE COURT: actually more than one :f:rom Jacques 

Whitford, all from .about 2002 or thereafter. 

MR. GILLESPIE: Right. 
THE COURT: so, I know there is one there. So let's 
find out if it is the same one. 

MR. GILLESPIE; We will have some submissions around 
some of the comments that you've heard so far about 
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was on consent of both parties. So if the concern is 
Mr. Cavallo didn't have his opportunity, with 
respect, I don't think that's the record. 
THE COURT: Your concern, Mr. Lenczner, is to ensure 
that I kno'l't that the document - sorry, the notation 
on the document that Mr. Cavallo put on, that says 
"related parties", refers to a sale between related 
parties? 
MR • LENCZNER: Correct. 
THE COURT: I don' t think I need to hear any more 
evidence on that. It does constitute a form of 
opinion, but we've already had Mr. Cavallo and his 
evidence has been accepted,, so let • s move on to 
something else. 
MR. LENCZNER: All right, thank you. 
Q. Mr. At lin, in doing your work, did you 

investigate, mortgages in Port Colborne? 
A. I did make some mortgage investigations, yes. 
Q. All right. And can you tell His Honour the 

nature of those investigations? 
A. We investigated some sampling of propertie~;~, 

both within and outside of Rodney Street, both before and after 
the effective date and on a small sampling of properties, we 
considered the terms of the mortgage finatncing, where it could 

25 be analyzed. Certain types of financing can't be analyzed, but 
the more traditional financings can be. 

Q. And what do you mean by the more traditional 

financing? 
A. First mortgages that are standard first 

mortgages, where the terms are registered on title. So you 
know an interest rate, you know a term. Those can be analyzed. 
Sometimes you get financings, which are nothing more than the 
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registration of a demand loan without the actual terms. That 
type of financing cannot be analyzed, so we restrict ourselves 
to what we can look at. 

Q. All right, and in respect of the traditional 
types of finapcing, where you have the term and the interest 
rate, what did you note? 

A. We made a number of obse;J:Yations. We observed 
that the traditional lenders are in the marketplace. There are 
also what would be called alternative lenders, active in the 
marketplace, to include say private lenders. That mortgage 
interest rates relate very traditionally to posted bank rates. 
Mortgage rates change over time, because - well we all know 
that. Anybody that's owned a house knows that over time they 

t5 change. So, the measure we did was to compare them to what the 
bank of Canada posts as the five year posted bank mortgage 

20 

25 

rate. So, we compared the analysis to that and discovered a 
consistency both before and after the alleged date. Within and 
outside of Rodney Street there was financing. The Rodney 
Street financings were generally a little bit more inside than 
outside. But there was no distinction as before and after the 
effect of the September pivotal doate. So, what it amounted 
this was that on a micro research, the mortgage market is 
behaving normoally; nothing unusual, nothing to speak to. On a 
more moacro boasis, to step back, we looked at the soales overoall 
in the community, and everybody, I think commonly will accept, 

certainly by real estate experts is accepted, thoat the 
residential real estoate market is dependant on the availability 
of finoancing. There is clearly an ongoing residentioal real 
estate active market, therefore one can assume from that, that 

there is oan ongoing oavail<ability of mortgage finoancing. 
ao Q. And~ when you talk about traditional lep_ders, can 

you just name a few, so that we have that clear? 
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A. Traditional lenders would be a bank. The 
Toronto Dominion Bank would be considered a traditional lender, 
by way of example. 

MR. LENCZNER: All right, subject then Your Honour, 
to that looking up ov.er lunch hour, those al;'e all my 
questions on Mr. Atlin. So I will just have one or 
two after lunch. 
THE! COURT: All right. Let's come back for 2:15 

please. 

RJ;l§.!!M!.!:LQ.: 
THE COURT: Shall we bring out witness back Mr. 
Lenczner'l 
MR. LENCZNER: 
counsel. 

Sure. We have an agreement amongst 

THE COURT: Well, let's hear what caveats there are 
to the agreement. 
MR. LENCZNER: I have no caveats. 
THE COURT: All right. 
MR. LENCZNER: The agreement is that the raw data on 
MLS sales, produced by Ridley and Associates, is 
accepted as being correct. Equally, the defandallt 
q.ccepts as correct, the MLS data provided to Teranet 
by Mr. Danch. You. will remember he provided from • S7 
to 2002. So, neither side is requiring - nei.ther 
side .is requiring the other to call either Mr. Danch 
or Ns. campbell from their respective firms, to 
establish the correctness of each data point in the 
MLS data ):)ase • 

THE COURT: All right, thclllk you. That is by 
agreement Mr. Gillespie? 
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1. The appeal oftbismatter concerns a trial judgment rendered by the Honourable Justice 

Henderson in July 2010 fllr causes ofal)tion .in private nuisance and Il;ylands v. Fletchl!r. This 

appeal is concerned solely with private propercy nghts. 

2. The focus of the appeal will b€:. whether or not the trial judge made an enor of law in 

his articulation of these legal tests or whether the trial judge made palpably unreasonable 

fmdings of fact. The dispute is between the citizens of Port Colbome and a private 
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corporation, inco Limited. The ~o:posl'td intervenor, Friends of the Earth ("FOE"), had no 

involvement, or expressed interest, in the conduct of the lengthy trial. 

3, The FOE's proposed arguments virtually duplicate those of the respondent. Given the 

nature of the decision being appealed, the voluminous evidence tendered at trial and the lack 

of the FOE's involvement at the trial level, the FOE does not appear to be in a position to 

make helpful or unique arguments to this court which would assist in the disposition of the 

appeal. The decision below was heavily :1\lct-driven and consists of a voluminous factual 

record with which the FOE at present has no familiarity or experience. 

4. Given its unfamiliarity with the evidence filed at trial, it is extremely uulikely that the 

FOE would raise matters not already raised by the parties at trial or not considered by the trial 

judge in his reasons. Where the FOE's proposed submissions are not duplicative, they do not 

appear to be relevant as they concern broadly-based policy arguments that would need to be 

grounded in fact. 

5. Not ouly does the proposed interveiU>r lack sufficient interest in this appeal to be 

granted leave to intervene at this time, it has also unreasonably delayed the bringing of this 

motion. While the notice of appeal was :filed on August 3, 2010, the proposed intervenor 

waited until February 2011 to advise of its formal intention to intervene, well after the 

appellant had perfected its appeal and after the parties had set down the May 9, 2011 date for 

the hearing of the appeal. 

6. Accordingly. the rebJlOlldent respectfully requests that the motion for intervention be 

denied. 
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20. While 1lte rules< relating to interventions hav!l ®!m expanded in constitutional 

litigation recently, a "similar exp!lllSion has not taken place-in private litigation". In fact, 

conventional litigation between private parties has. for 1lte most part been narrowly conslrued 

"because 1lte interests considered in such cases< are llSUlllly financial and considerations of 

stare decisis and issue estoppel are of con~m". 

Peixelro "< Haberman (1994), 20 O.R. (3d) 666 (Gen. Div.) at 670, Respondent's Book of 
Au1horities, tab !i. 

Adler v. Ontario (1992), 8 O.R. (3d) 200 (Gen. Div.) at p. 205, llespondent's Book of 
Au1horities, Tab 6. 

21. At its core, the decision by 1lte trial judge disposed of purely private rights between the 

patties. In essenqe, the dispute arose as between neighbours and the extent to which it was 

permissible for the appen.mt to emit and dlscll!ll'ge mckel into 1lte air and soil of its 

surrcmnding neighbours. The parties are private residential property owners and an industrial 

propQrty owner. No constitu1ional issues are engaged. 

22. While 1lte FOE states that the legal issues engaged on 1ltis appeal "affect the interests 

of the public as a whole", S\lllh an assertion is misplaced. Public interest cases whe!ll 

intervention has been granted have pertained to matters such as Charter issues, same sex 

marriage or the fiduciary duties owed by )lllrents to children, not cases involving private 

property rlghts where the proposed intervenor is not familiar with the evidence adduced at 

trial. 

Notice of Motion, served Mf11'ch 1, 2011, para. 1, FOE Motion Record, p. 2. 

Peel (J/Egional MU11icipality) v. G~eat Atlantic and Pacific Co. o/ Canada (1~90), 74 O.R. (2d) 
164 (C.A.), Resp®dent's !look of AuthOI'ities, Tab 2. 

Halpern v. Canada (Atlorney General), [2003) O.J. No. 730 (C.A.), Respondent's Book of 
Auiliorities, Tab 7, 
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Louie v. Lastman.(2001), 208 D.L.R. (4"')380 (C.A.), Respondent's B.ook ofAuthorities, Tab 
8, 

Layland v. OntllJ'io (Mfmslltl' of Ctm311mll1' and Commill'cial Relations), [1992] OJ. No. 1963 
(Gen. Div.), Respondent's Book ofAnthorlties, Tab 9. · 

23. The FOE's reliance on this court's decision in Authnrson v. Canada (Attorney 

General) is of no assistance 10 its ar~ent that this case is closer 10 the public end of the 

spee1rllm. In Authorson, leave to intervene was denied even though that appeal concerned 

federal legislation and the Crown's fiduciary obligations to pay veterans certain statutory 

benefits. 

FaClllm of the FOE, dt11edMarch 14,21111, para, 14, p. S. 

Autborson (Litigation Gull1'dian of) v. Canada (Attorney Gouera/), [2061] O.J. No. 2768 
(C.A.), Respondent'& Book of Authorities, Tab 4. 

24. The FOE also erroneously relies on a passage from Linden & Feldthusen's Canadian 

Tort Law, cl!iliiring that its interest in this appeal is of "profound importance" because the 

learned authors have coined the law of nuisance "a citizen's weapon" and this appeal will 

therefore "affect the public as a whole". With respect, tb.e claims advanced at trial in public 

nuisance were dismissed by the trial judge, no cross·appeal is extant in this respect aud this 

appeal is therefore not concerned with Che law of public nuisance. 

Facltim of the FOE. dated March 14, 2011, para.13, p. S. 

25. Moreover, leave is rarely granted in such "private" cases where the determination at 

issue binds only the parties to the litigation. That an action is also a class proceeding does not 

change this fact. Justice Winkler (as he then was) denied leave to intervene in Dabbs v. Sun 

Life Assurance Co. of Canada on the basis that: 
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In th!' present case, the acti<;>n involves private litigants: the Sun Life Asslll'llllce 
CoroJliiiiY of Canada and certain of its policyholders .... While she [the applicant for 
intervention] is a policyholder wilt> a different insurance company which may be 
involved in similar litigation, the possibility that .a decision in an action may be used 
as a precedent in another action betWean tither pattjes is llot a sufficient interest to 
support intervention: see Schofield v. Ontario (Ministry of CollSilmer &: Commercial 
Relotions) (1980),28 O.R (211) 663, ll2 DL.R. (3d) 132 (C.A.). [empbasis added] 

Dabbs v. Sun Life ASSU1'once Ca. of Canada (1997), 35 O.R. (3d) 269 (Gilll. rnv.) at 272, 
Respondent's Book of Authorities, Tab 10. 

26. Just as Dabbs was "not an inquiry into !he insurance industry generally, nor [was] it 

the forum for such an inquiry", nor does this appeal involve an inquiry into Canadian 

environmental law generally. 

Dabbs v. Sun. Life A3SWance Cu. of Canada (1991), 35 O.R. (3d) 269 (Gen. Div.) at 273, 
Respondent's Book of Authorities, Tab 10. 

27. Even on the ceriification appeal, the FOE was denied leave to argue any substantive 

legal illsues because its proposed submissions track!lli the position of !he plaintiff/appellant 

and there was "no suggestion !hat !he appellant cannot forcefully and skilfully make the 

salient points". This reasoning applies with even greater force now. If the FOE was not in a 

position to offer a substantive legal contribution at the ceriification motion, which was based 

on a paper record, surely it is in even less of a position to offer a meaningful contribution now 

given !he complicated and volutninous trial record in this: case. 

C. The FOE's Inv!llvement in the Appeal would be Duplicative and Unnecessary 

28. The jurisprudence finnly establishes !hat a proposed intervenor, regardless of its 

expertise, must establish that its involvement or argument will not be duplicative to that of the 

parties themselves: 
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(b) "speakfnr a gteat number of;Canadbins.on environmental issues ..• and the 
nse of tort law as a mechanism for .cost internalization in the environmental 
cuntext"; 

(c) "the interaction of pllblic and private laws in protecting the environment"; 

(d) ''interpret private nuisance and 1/ylands v. Fletcher consistent with the 
precautionary principle of intemational environmental law and governance"; 

(e) "a broi!der app.reeiation· of the architectllre of public and private law 
established to protect the environment''; and 

(f) "FOE brings a national perspective to 1he implications of the legal debates at 
issue". 

Affidavit of Beatrice 0/ivastri, sworn Febrt1111y 28, 20Jl, paras. 14, 16, 19, 21, (respectively), 
FOE Motion Recool, Tab 2. 

37. The FOB's taetwn on this motion further assetll! that it ought tQ be granted to leave to 

intervene on the basis that a certain legal interpretation of private nuisance and Rylands is 

· ~important to furthering the proposed Inteivener' s organizational objectives and safegusrding 

the interests of the constituencies it represents". All appeal before this honnurable court is not 

the appropriate forum in which to advance such objectives, nor does such constitote helpful 

legal argument by which to dispose of the appeal. While the FOE frames this appeal as one 

which "includes the realization that our common future, 1hat of every Canadian community, 

depends on a healthy environment'', such assertions are irrelevant and llllhelpful in disposing 

of an appeal of a factually driven trial decision. 

Factum.oftheFOE, dated MArch 14, 20ll,para. 18, p.7. 

PtoposedAppeal Fact11m of FOE, para. I, pg. 1, Appendix Ita FOE Factum, dated March 14, 
2011. 
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PART IV· ORDE:RREQUESTED 

44. The respondent respectfully requests that the motion for leave to intervene in this 

. appeal be dismissed. 

AIL OF WHICH ISRESl'ECTFULLY SUlJMITIED 

Gric Gille.s.pi~ Pee: c..\tL-rAK 
Eric K. Gillespie 
Counsel for the Plaintiff/Respondent, 
Responding l'arty on the Motion 


